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Mwana Africa PLC (Mwana) 1s a pan-African, multi-commodity resources

company, with operations and exploration prospects covering gold,

diamonds, nickel and other base metals in Zimbabwe, the Democratic

Republic of the Congo (DRC) and South Africa
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Financial highlights

o Group revenues up £8 5 million to £27 3 million
(2010 £18 8 million), of which Freda Rebecca contributed
£23 4 milion (2010 £6 0 million)

» Reduced loss for the group of £7 2 million
(2010 £14 4 million loss)

o Reduced loss attributable to Mwana Africa shareholders
of £2 1 million (2010 £14 5 mullion loss)

= Impairment reversal of £11 7 million at Freda Rebecca due
to the successful restart and production ramp up

» Exploration spend £7 7 million (2010 £4 0 million)
e Share placement of 46 4 million shares in October 2010
raised approximately £4 8 million net of expenses

e Drawdown of US$4 million by Freda Rebecca under its IDC
facihty in February 2011

Operational highlights

» Freda Rebecca production

¢ 27,2400z of gold in the year to March 2011
(2010 8,5500z — six months production)

e Increased gold resource at Zani-Kodo announced in July 2010

¢ the Indicated Mineral Resource Increased to 256koz and
the Inferred Mineral Resource increased to 998koz, based on
a cut-off grade of 1 Og/t gold

e Detalled plans for the resumption of operations at the Bindura

Nickel Corporation (“BNC") Trojan mine

¢ Completion of SRK independent Competent Person’s Report
reviewing these plans

¢ BNC off-take agreement with Glencore International for the
purchase of the concentrate produced by Trojan

Highlights after the reporting period
¢ Increased gold resources at Freda Rebecca announced in
April 2011

¢ the Indicated Mineral Resource Increased to 1 67Moz and
Inferred Mineral Resource increased to
0 64Moz, based on a cut-off grade of 1 5g/t gold

¢ £9 27 million gross fund raising completed n June 2011



Chairman’s letter

Dear shareholder

Loaking back on the past year, it has been one of contrast We have seen notable success in the continued ramp up of the Freda
Rebecca Mine i Zimbabwe which 1s now a significant producer of gold and a valuable contributor to cash flow, while uncertainty
over the outcome of Indigenisation proposals by the Government of Zimbabwe have made 1t challenging to secure the necessary

finance for the restart of Bindura

Metal prices remain strong, with geld in particuiar continuing to
respond positively to quantitative easing in many of the worlds
major economies, while the China and India growth story
continues to confirm the commodity super cycle

In Apnl we announced a B0% Increase n the gold
resource at Freda Rebecca The indicated resource of 1 7Moz
demonstrates that the mine has a mine fife of at least twenty
years even at increased production rates In addiion to our
on-gong drive 1o increase production and lower costs, the hife
of mine expansian adds to freda Rebecca’s strong potential for

Bindura remains on care and mantenance pending the
raising of restart finance The core operational team at the
site has been kept in place and the assets have been well
maintained Securing financing for Bindura remains a challenge
in the current poiitical cimate and with uncertainty prevailing
over the Zimbabwe government’s indigerisation proposals
Nevertheless we are progressing negotiations for oan finance
and for the restructunng of creditor and workforce habilities
which | believe will put us in a better position to restart operations

In the DRC we have made sigruficant progress at our Zani-Kodo



Chief executive’s review

Qver the last twelve months, we have continued to focus on increasing cash flow from our producing assets whilst further develop-

Ing our exciting exploration projects The year has not been without its challenges, but with production growing at Freda Rebecca,

strong dnilling results from Zan-Kedo and a strengthened balance sheet, we have built a solid basis for our next phase of growth

The ramp up in production continued successfully at the Freda
Rebecca Mme, in parallel with a 60% increase in indicated gold
resources, significantly extending the expected life of the mine
Phase t of the restart was successfully completed, with the
annualised production rate of 30,0000z reached by February
2011 Since then, the mine reached an annualised run rate of
35,0000z In May and 1s showing strong progress towards Its
50,0000z per annum Phase Il production target Freda Rebecca
produced a total of 27,2400z of gold during the perod,
contnbuting £14 4 million to group profits and generating
£3 8 million of cash inflows

We are confident that Freda Rebecca will continue to be a strong
contnbutor to our cash flow, as we continue the successful
ramp up towards the Phase Il production target in parallel with
increasing the efficiency of our production process and reducing
our cash costs, this involves the refurbishment of the second
parallel mill and the expansion of the rock moving fleet As
reported n June, this mill has been successfully commissioned
and has contributed as planned to the Phase Il tonnage ramp
up at Freda Rebecca The mine 1s now handling ore at the rate
of 2,350t per day up from 1,800t per day, with a targeted
Phase Il throughput of 2,700t per day, which we expect to
reach in Septermber The nature of the ore body at Freda
Rebecca 1s such that mine economics benefit hugely from
increased mined volumes and our aim now I1s to expand
production which will not only increase ounces produced but
also lower cash operating costs per ounce Further limited
exploration dritkng 15 being carred out within the mimng
permit with the am of expanding the resource nventory of
near-surface matenal We believe that there 1s considerable
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potential to add near-surface resources which could be blended
In to the ore processing stream to increase production and
lower costs

We have detailed plans in place for the restart of operations at
BNC We have also refurbished substantial parts of the mtne and
processing equipment at Trojan in preparation for the restart
The restart plans involve the production of 7,000t per annum
of nickel in concentrate annually and we have agreed off-take
terms with Glencore International to purchase all of this output
The technical and economic viability of the project has been
venfied by SRK Consulting in a Competent Person's Report
Negotiations to secure financng for the restart are on-going,
together with a restructuring designed to sireamiine creditor
and workforce hability at the asset Whilst this task has been
made difficult by uncertainties in the Zimbabwe mining ndustry
regarding government indigenisation legislation, we remain
committed to securing the restart of this unique asset In the
Southern African region Meanwhile, our care and maintenance
programme and continuing refurbishment of the mine and
equipment are maintaining the integrity of the operations and
will ensure a quick and efficient restart process

Whilst there remam a number of challenges for Zimbabwe,
not least of which are the concerns regarding indigenisation
of foreign companies which continues to constrain inward
investment flows, there are a number of positives 1n the
Zimbabwe economy which are often overlooked Annual
inflation continues 1ts downward trend, falling to 2 7% in March
2011, compared with the hyper inflabonary years in the not too
distant past, these low inflation figures have brought with them




the stability required for businesses to operate normally The
agricultural sector s poised to grow by 19 3% in 2011 compared
to 33 9% 1n 2010 and 14 9% n 2009 Buoyed by favourable
international prices and a stable operating environment,
productton of most minerals in Zimbabwe has continued
to show an upward trend, gold, for example, 15 expected to
increase from a total of 9t produced in 2010 to a forecasted
125t in 2011 These performances in the agrculturat
and mining sectors not only create employment, but also
generate substantal foreign currency inflows into Zimbabwe
as well as tax revenues for the country

The strong potential of our exploration assets was confirmed by
successful dnlling campaigns at both the Zani-Kodo gold project
and the SEMHKAT base metais concessiens in the DRC JORC
complant Indicated and Inferred Resources at Zani-Kodo have
reached a total of 1 25Moz, with the results of further drilling
expected to be known shortly With a further 7,000 metres of
the Zani-Kodo trend yet to be tested, we continue to believe in
the tremendous potential of this asset for Mwana Exploration
15 also continuing at the SEMHKAT concession, focussing on
the development of a resource at Kibolwe through diamond
dnlling and geochenmical surveys With an intensive exploration
programme planned for the months to come, we hope to be
able to update the market on this in due course

Mwana finishes the financial year with a significantly
strengthened balance sheet The proceeds of our successful share
placements in October 2010 and June 2011, £4 8 million and
£8 8 million respectively have been allocated to our exploration,
expansion, and care and maintenance programmes Our plans
at Freda Rebecca were further supported by the drawdown of
a Us$4 million loan facility from the Industnal Development
Corporation of South Africa The finanaing, the first of its kind
in Zimbabwe, confirms both the quality of our assets and our
ability to finance ther development in Zimbabwe and beyond

In addition to providing the best value for our shareholders,
our commitment also remains with the communities in which
we operate Education and employee and community health
programmes are a prionity at our assets, and our positive iImpact
on the local economy has included infrastructure suppoert and
procurement expenditure sourced from local suppliers Dunng
the difficult care and maintenance period at BNC, we have
continued to provide accommodation, water, electricity and
primary health care for BNC employees

! would Wke to exiend my thanks 10 our shareholders,
management and operational teams, employees and all those
who have supported us over the last year and are continuing to

do so as we grow into the next stage of our development

Kalaa Mpinga
Chief Executive Qfficer
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Review of operations and exploration

Precious metals - operations
Freda Rebecca gold mine - Zimbabwe

The Freda Rebecca gold mine, situated m the town of Bindura,
was acquired by Mwana Afnica in Aprl 2005 Production
resumed in October 2009 following an extended peniod of care
and mainienance

Freda Rebecca produced 27,2400z of gold in the year to March
2011, the first full financial year of production since the restart

MWANA  AFRICA.

1. Zimbabwe
Commodities
Base metals and gold

Operations
Bindura Nickel Corporation's Trojan and Shangani mines,
and Freda Rebecca

Project Hunters Road

Exploratton prospects
Malrgreen mine and Makaha deposit

2. DRC
Commodities
Base metals, gold and diamonds

Exploration programmes
Katanga, Mamiamuna, Zam-Kodo and 20% stake in MIBA

3. South Africa
Commodity
Diamonds

Operation
Klipspringer mine

Since the recommencement of production, tonnage mined,
grade and recovery have made steady progress Ramp-up
to the Phase | production target rate of 2,5000z per month
(30,0000z per annum equivalent) has been successfully achieved
with an average monthly production of over 2,5000z for the
10-month period to March 2011

A steady sncrease in mined tonnage from underground
operations has been recorded This 1s attnbutable to improved
loader availabiity and the deployment of an increased number




of trucking umits following the award of a load and haul contract
as part of the ramp-up strategy

Operational effectiveness as measured by equipment availability,
running hours and tonnes per hour have demonstrated that the
milling circuit 15 well established and capable of handling the
required volume throughputs As a result of implementing the
planned maintenance programme, which involved significant
upgrade work on the processing plant, plant avallability has
improved and has been sustained ahead of targets

Plant recovery has improved progressively since operations
resumed, with an average recovery rate of 84% being achieved
n the quarter ended March 2011

with effect from the 11th of January, Fredz Rebecca joined
the “uninterrupted power supply” tanff with the Zimbabwe
Electnaty Supply Authority Since that date, the site has
benefitied from full power with no incidents of load shedding
or power disturbance being recorded

In June 2011, Mwana announced the completion of the
Phase 0l refurbishment programme and the commencement
of commssioning of the second mill at Freda Rebecca The
Phase il programme compnsed the overhaul and refurbishment
of the second millng crcurt and 1ts associated Carbon-In-
Pulp/Carbon-In Leach sections Following completion of the
commussioning of the second mill, Freda Rebecca 15 well
positoned to expand its processing capability and reach the
targeted Phase Il annualised gold production rate of 50,0000z
per annum

in February 2011, following fulfiment of the required
conditigns, nduding the provision by the Export Credit
Insurance Corporatton of South Afnca (“ECIC”) of political nsk
insurance for the facility, Freda Rebecca drew down the first
US$4 milhon tranche of a US$10 million project finance facility

from the Industnial Development Corporation of South Africa
The drawdown of the remaining US$6 million remains subject
to the fulfilment of further conditions precedent

In Apnl 2011, the company announced increased mineral
resources at Freda Rebecca Based on a cut-off grade of
15g/t gold, the Indicated Mineral Resource increased from
Just over 1Moz to 1 67Moz of gold whilst the Inferred Mineral
Resource, as similarly defined, 1s now 0 64Moz The updated
muneral resource was independently verified by SRK Consultng
(UK) Limited, and, 15 expected to form the basis of an extended
mine life

Freda Rebecca production results for the periods to
March 2010 and March 2011

201 2010

(6 months)

Tonnes mined — underground t 410,653 95,668

Tonnes mined — low grade t 139,608 137,569
surface dump

Tonnes processed t 539,864 205,194

Feed grade g/t 234 176

Plant recovery % 769 742

Gold produced oz 27,240 8,550

Freda Rebecca mine - Resources at a 1 5g/t cut-off

Classification Tonnes Grade Goid
{(‘oo0t) Aulg/t) ('00002)

Indicated 21,043 248 1,675

Inferred 8,746 228 640

The effective date for the Freda Rebecta resource estimate 1s September 2010
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Review of operations and exploration cont

Precious metals — exploration
Zani-Kodo — Democratic Republic of Congo

Mwana has a joint venture with the state-owned Office des
Mines d'Or de Kilomoto {OKIMO) for gold exploration in the
itur district of the DRC The joint venture, in which OKIMO has a
20% free carried interest, covers gold mining rights over 1,605
square kilometres 1n Orientale Province, containing a senes
of highly prospective greenstone belts of Kibalian age which
are considered to have the potential to host world-class gold
deposits Zani-Kodo 1s situated between the Kiball (formerly
Moto Mines) Project (Randgold/AngloGold Ashanti J V) and the
Mongbwalu Project {AngloGold Ashanti}

In July 2010, an increased JORC-comphant resource at
Zani-Kodo was announced Based on a cut-off grade of
10g/t gold, the Indicated Mineral Resource increased
to 256koz of gold while the Inferred Mineral Resource,
as similarly defined, 1s now 998koz

Zani-Kodo — Resources at a 0 5gft cut-off

Tonnes Grade Gold
Classification (‘000t) Au(g/t) ('00002)
Indicated 2,489 320 256
Inferred 8,623 360 998
The effective date for the Zant Kodo resource estimate is July 2010
Zani-Kodo - Resources at a 1 0g/t cut-off
Tonnes Grade Gold
Classification {"000t) Au({g/t} ('0000z)
Indicated 2,480 321 256
Inferred 8,578 362 998

The effective date for the Zam-Kodo resource estimate is july 2010
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Diamond drilling dunng the year was focused on the Badolite
target area which 1s situated 1 5km 10 the south of the Kodo
depostt Atotal of 50 holes for 10,027 metres were dniled duning
the reporting period The southerly continuation of the Zani-
Kodo mineralised trend, which is marked by the sheared contact
between footwall metasandstones and hangingwall Banded
Iron Formations, was interpreted to pass through the area based
on aeromagnetic data and freld mapping The area Is largely
covered by talus deposits which explains the lack of artisanal
actiity Dnlling successfully intersected the targeted contact and
continuous minesalisation was wlentified over a strike length of
600m A high grade shoot with intersections of up to 28m @
3 Og/t was identified The ore zone remains completely open at
depth The table alongside shows intersections exceeding 1 Og/t
at Le Badolite released to date

To date a total of 2,000m of the Zani-Kedo trend has been
shown to contain continuous mineralisation A further 7,000m
remains to be tested, along with a number of targets in the
hangingwall of the structure




Le Badolite intersections exceeding 1 0g/t released to date

Hole From (m) To (m) Width (m)  Grade Au {(g/t)
BDLDDOO1 23 32 9 215
BOLDDOO4 75 90 15 152 Inct 5Sm @ 2 13g/t
BDLDOOOB 54 82 28 300 In¢cl 6m @ 4 24g/t and 10m @ 4 14g/t
BOLDDO1O 112 118 6 369
125 128 3 427
BDLDDO11 1518 154 4 26 180
165 167 2 155

BDLDDOO7 92 11 19 239
BDLDDO12 82 852 32 126
8DLDDO13 151 1612 102 21
BDLDDOOS 578 60 22 119
BDLDDOOS 150 154 4 230
BDLDDO16 102 103 1 102
BODLDDO17 166 172 6 110
BOLDDO21 187 189 2 178
BOLDDO24 45 48 3 214

56 62 6 343

74 79 5 355
BDLDDO25 46 50 4 388
BDLDDO26 27 29 2 113

48 48 1 164
BDLDDO14 182 200 2 182 238 Incl 37m @ 4 65g/t
BDLDDO1B 2028 213 102 295
BDLOLO27 251 270 19 260
BDLDDO33 299 307 8 333
BDLDDO32 333 3401 71 28
BDLDDO40 3934 3950 16 296
BDLDDO39 3452 346 4 12 187
BDLDDO20 108 1174 94 139
BDLDDO22 2295 234 45 222
BDLDDOZ3 272 285 13 182

BDLDDO3N 2616 264 24 162
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Base metals — operations
Bindura Nickel Corporation — Zimbabwe

Situated near the town of Bindura, 90 kilometres north-east
of Harare, BNC 15 the only integrated nickel mine, smelter and
refinery operation in Afnica Histoncally, ore from the company’s
Shangani and Trojan mines, with a combined hoisting capaaty
In excess of two million tonnes of ore per year, was concentrated
and fed, along with concentrate from third parties, to BNC's
smelter and refinery BNC 15 listed on the Zmbabwe Stock
Exchange Mwana Africa acquired its 52 9% stake In the
campany in 2003

The mines, smelter and refinery remaned on care and
mantenance during the year The care and matntenance
programme continues to preserve the integnty of the
underground operations, surface concentrators and the smelter
and refinery complex

BNC has evaluated vanous scenanos for the resumption of
operations Given relatively limited availability of debt and equity
finance for projects in ZiImbabwe at this time, a decision was
taken to try to restart BNC's operations sequentially, beginning
with the resumption of concentrate production from the Trojan
mine and processing facility

BNC has developed detalled plans for the resumption of
operattons at Tegjan, and SRK has completed an independent
Competent Person’s Report reviewing these plans - the results
of which were announced on 10 August 2010 SRK’s CPR states
that, "SRK has reviewed the Business Plan for the restart of
operations at Trojan and considers the plan to be both reahstic
and achievable”

BNC announced in February 2011 that it had signed an off-iake

agreement with Glencare International who will purchase all the
concentrate produced by Trojan After the restart, BNC expects
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to produce concentrate contaming 7,000 tonnes of mickel per
year at steady state BNC continues to seek finance to fund the
restart of operations

In anticipation of the restart of operations management has
carned out a programme of works aimed at overhauling key
components of engineering and operational infrastructure
These works, funded from the BNC balance sheet, included
overhaul of the main pumping arrangements and ventilation
fans and a replacement programme of shaft guides On surface
the waste handling system has been re-engineered together
with a major overhaul of the surface secondary and tertiary
crushers

Preparatory work for the restart of operations has included
the commencement of limited underground development
(approximately 850m of development has been completed)
allowing the commissioning of underground load haul
dumpers, ngs and associated mining and engineenng
services together with shaft systems Ore and waste hoisted to
surface has allowed the successful hot commissioning of the
surface waste conveyors and ore crushing facilities The objective
of the programme has been to de-risk the planned restart
programme in anticipation of project funding The management
team at BNC has been retamed dunng care and maintenance
and have been re-mobilised and actively engaged in the
pre-start programme

In anticipation of the phased restart, plans are underway to
restructure the operations so as to reduce cost structures and
ensure maxmum praductivty and profitabiity gaing forward
The restart 15 dependent on obtaining funding which most
likely wall have to be sourced from foreign investors and/or the
international debt markets Obtaining restart funding wall hikely
be dependent on BNC restructunng and improving 1ts current
creditor and workfarce structure and resolving issues around the
Indigenisation and Empowerment Act




BNC — Resources at March 2011

Tonnes Grade Nickel
(‘000t) (%) )
Measured
Trojan 1,710 136 23,250
Shangani 1,840 058 10,750
Hunters Road - - -
Total 3,550 096 34,000
Indicated
Trojan 710 138 9,810
Shangani 480 059 2,840
Hunters Road 36,437 055 200,404
Total 37,627 057 213,054
Inferred
Trojan 1,110 113 12,540
Shangam 9,710 056 $4,280
Hunters Road - - -
Total 10,820 062 66,820

The effective date for the Trojan resource estimate 1s March 2010 and for
the Shangar resource estimate if 1s August 2008

The effective date for the Hunters Road resource estimate is May 2006

The JORC-comphant resource of 36 437kt is found in the West Ore body of
Hunters Road and includes 2 377kt of resource which forms part of a 30m
cap of oxide ore mineralisation in addition, i 1993 an Angfo American
MINRED estimate showed 11 000kt grading 0 43% Ni approximately 600m
east of the West Ore body of Hunters Road which is excluded from the
respurce shown above

Base metals - exploration

SEMHEKAT (Societe d'exploration Miniere du
Haut Katanga)

Mwana holds a 100% nterest in SEMHKAT which has
exploration concessions covening 4,845 square kilometres in
the south-east of the DRC Exploration 1s focusing on sediment-
hosted stratiform copper-cobalt, iron oxide-copper-gold {10CG)
occurrences as well as on showings of lead and zinc

Exploration dunng the year focused on developing the resource
at Kibolwe through a damond drlling programme on the east,
south and west of Kibolwe Soii geochemical surveys were also
conducted at Kibolwe, Mukema West and Lunsano target areas
Mwana has outhned a 10,600-metre dniling programme for
201112

Mwana 15 also conducting exploration under a joint venture
agreement with Ambase Expleoration Africa over 476 square
kilometres in the North West part of the concession Durning the
course of the year a total of 2,355 samples were collected on
regional reconnaissance lines and several new soll geochemical
anomalies were identified Soi geochemical anomalies reach
a maximum of 530ppm copper A regional 20,000m RAB
drilling programme 15 scheduled for 2011 to follow up the
soll anomalies

Mwana holds an 85% interest In further exploration nghts
over 6,395 square kilometres of prospective ground in the
western Katanga and eastern Kasai Oriental provinces of the
DRC {Maniamuna}

Kibolwe Project

The Kibolwe prospect 1s a stratform copper oxide deposit
consisting of mainly malachite mineralisation

Reverse circulation and core driling programmes carred out
from 2004 to 2010 have outlined a near-surface, flat-lying
mineralised zone up to 40 metres thick extending over a stnke
of 188 kilometres Duning 2010 a core dnling programme of
5,686m was completed with a vew to extending the known
mineralised zone to both the east and the west

The table over the page details all intersections exceeding 0 5%
at Kibolwe extenstons as at March 2011

"



Review of operations and exploration cont

Kibolwe intersections exceeding 0 5% as at 31 March 2011

Hole
KIBWDD12B

KIBWDD15B
KIBWDD19B

KIBWDD19
KIBWDD21D

KIBEDDOG1
KIBEDDQO2

KIBEDDOO3
KIBWDD218B
KIBWDD13
KIBwDD14

KIBWDD15
KIBWDD16
KIBWDD148
KIBwDDQ09

KIBWDD 10
KiBWLD11

KIBWDDO8

KIBWDD12
KIBWDD16C
KIBWDD178
KIBWDD188
KIBECDGS

12 MWANA

From {m) To (m) Width (m) Grade Cu (%)
22 268 48 128
512 616 104 064
557 6125 555 138
2 99 278 054
54 94 40 117
73 9t 18 205
36 80 44 112
76 2 1113 351 059
1238 128 25 445 19
12 315 195 05
52 59 7 06
12 499 379 062
88 9 1059 17 051
62 28 738 1152 0s
97 101 4 091
74 1456 716 1
0 1164 1164 13
381 101 629 216
612 1 4 88 1
50 31 78 27 69 1
180 az5 245 112
110 1300 20 088
1330 1540 210 a8
2150 2230 B0 062
409 84 4 385 086
209 359 150 065
665 705 40 13
98 2 1079 g7 057
1170 1316 136 092
1347 142 QS 735 062
1706 1811 105 053
141 85 147 515 118
208 227 19 069
18 70 52 062
102 116 14 Q75
67 7592 892 o7
26 31 5 059
107 112 S 063

AFRICA..




To the west at Kibolwe the mineralisation splits into two zanes
representing the imbs of an antiformal structure The main
Kibolwe area 1s situated in the crestal area of the fold, with
mineralisation deepening to the east The 2010 drilling has
added significant strike length to the already defined deposit

Mwana 1s developing new dunll targets at Mukema, Lunsanc and
Kitemena-Kitugulu-Kamungot

Diamonds - operations
Khpspringer - South Africa

The Khpspringer diamond mine 15 situated approximately
250 kilometres north of Johannesburg Mwana acquired its stake
of approximately 62% through the purchase of SouthernEra in
2007 The company’s stake has increased to 66 7% following
dilution of the joint venture partner due to non-investment by
the partner in the working caprtal requirements of Klipspringer

A total of 24,780 carats were sold dunng the year The average
diamend price for the year was US$125 per carat Although
the diamond price improved by almost 15% during the year,
this was offset in part by the continuing strength of the South
African rand against the United States doflar

In September 2010 a 31 25 carat stone was recovered from
the mine The diamond was sold for US$8,200 per carat and
to date this 15 the largest diamond recovered from the
Klipspringer mining aperation in just over 10 years

Following a number of severe weather incidents in December
2010 and January 2011, which flooded the shaft bottom and
lower (7} level, a decision to stop production and development
at Klipspringer for reasons of health and safety was taken
Operations have ceased and the mine is currently in a recovery
phase aimed at re-instating infrastructure that was damaged
as a result of the flooding Management are reviewing restart
scenanos and timing

Khipspringer production results for the periods to
March 2010 and March 2011

2011+ 2010
Tonnes mined t 48,946 46,497
Tonnes treated t 48,946 46,786
Carats recoverad* carats 22,700 24,642
Grade cpht 46 00 5267

~ Effectively represents 9 months production due to the weather mcidents
in Decembertlanuary

Diamonds - other interests

Mwana Africa has minonty stakes 1n a number of other
diamond projects Including a 20% interest N Société Miniére de
Bakwanga (MIBA) in the DRC, an 18% interest in the Camafuca
project n Angola and 12 5%7 interest in the BK16 project
In Botswana

t Mwana currently hoids 55% of BK16 and has entered into an agreement
with Firestone Diamonds whereby Firestone can earn up to 87 5% of
BK186 for financing and carrying out all work up to the completion of a
bankable feasibifity study
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Financial review

Income statement

Pro-forma income and expense

£ milhon

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit/(loss)

Other income

Selling and distnibution expenses

Care and maintenance expenses
Administrative expenses

Corporate costs

Impairment reversal

Profit/(loss) from operating activities
Finance \income

Finance costs

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

Non-controlling interest

Net profit/{loss) attributable to owners of the parent

The group reported turnover for the penod of £27 3 million
(2010 £18 8 milion) and a net loss before income tax for the
year of £3 7 million (2010 £14 4 milhon)

Freda Rebecca

During the year, Freda Rebecca sold 27,2400z of Gold
(2010 8,5500z} at an average price of US$1,325 per
ounce (2010 US$1,116 per cunce) as well as by-products,
generating revenue of £234 milion (2010 £60 mullion)
Operating costs dunng the period increased in hne with the
ramp up of operations, and totalled £204 million (2010
£9 7 milhon) for the year An operating profit of £3 t million
together with a reversal of imparment on property, ptant and
equipment of £11 7 million resulted in a net profit before
income tax of £14 4 milhon
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Freda Other Mwana
Rebecca BNC  Afnica group Total
234 26 13 273
{16 3) - (21) {18 4)
71 26 (0 8) B9
01 12 o7 20
(11 - - (11
- (11 - (111
30 (28) (16) (7 4)
- - (49) (4 9}
17 - - 117
148 (101 {6 6) (19
- - V0] 0t
04) {06} 09 {19
144 {107) (74) 37
(33 (R} - (34}
- 50 - 50
111 (58) (7 4) 21)

Bindura Nickel Corporation

Revenue of £2 6 millon (2010 £11 8 million) was generated
through the sale of in-process inventories Operating costs of
£151 milhon (2010 £16 6 millon before impairment) were
reduced from the previous year as the mine was on care and
maintenance for the entire year BNC reported a net loss before
income 1ax of £10 7 milhon (2013 £4 8 million)

Other Mwana Africa group

Other revenue of £1 3million (2010 £1 0 million) was generated
by the group, prinapally the Khipspringer diamond mine The
company, excluding BNC and Freda Rebecca, incurred operating
costs of £8 6 million 2010 £8 6 million)




- to more adequate levels

Cash flow statement

Pro-forma cash reconcihiation

£ million

QOpening cash at 1 Apnl 2010
Cash financing

Equity 1ssues

Loan finance

Sale of equity iInvestments
Operations

Operating cash flow

Change in working capital
Capital expenditure
Capitalised exploration
Closing cash at 31 March 2011

Freda Rebecca

Positive cash flow of £3 8 million was generated by operations
during the year £3 0 milhon was invested in additional working
capital of which £2 2 millon was used to increase inventory
Further capital expenditure of
£2 6 milhon (2010 £2 2 million} comprises £1 0 millien 1o
maintain operations and £1 6 milkon to expand operations
through the Phase Il project Funding was made available by
the drawdown of £2 4 million (U534 miltion) from a loan facility
provided by the Industnal Development Corporation of South
Africa and positive operating cash flow

Bindura Nickel Corporation

Sales of inventory and intermediate material and investments and
receipt of cash from debtors, was offset by partial repayments to
creditors and the costs of the care and maintenance programme

Freda Other Mwana

Rebecca BNC  Africa group Total
07 a7 98 152
24 18 48 90

- - 48 48

24 - - 24

- 18 - 18
{18) (50) (12 8) (196)
38 (73) (73 (108)
(30) 37 22 29
26) (14) - {40)
- - (77 (77)

13 15 18 46

Net working capital movements resulted in the release of
£5 5 milion {2010 £2 8 millien) including the sale of listed
equities held by BNC BNC's net cash position decreased from an
opening balance of £4 7 million to £1 5 mullion at the year end

Other Mwana Africa group

Mwana Afrca (excluding BNC and Freda) saw an operating
cash outflow of £7 3 milfion {2010 £7 2 milion} During the
year, Mwana Africa invested £7 7 million (2010 £4 O mullion)
in its portfolio of exploration prospects, £2 8 million In
SEMHKAT (2010 £1 9 mihon) and £4 9 million in Zan (2010
£2 1 million)

Duning the period, the company issued 46 4 million shares
(2010 88 3 million), raising £4 8 millvon net of costs (2010
£8 4 milion)
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Financial review cont

Balance sheet

Other Mwana Africa

Freda Rebecca BNC group Total

£ million 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 201 2010
Non-current assets 264 132 218 219 240 171 722 522
Current assets (excl cash} 66 27 62 17 13 38 141 182
Cash 13 07 15 47 18 98 46 152
Non-current liabifities (78) (20} (79) (9 4) (28) (33 (18 5) (14 7)
Current habilities (4 6) {38} (20 3) (15 6) (35) 27N (28 4) (22 1}
Total equity 219 108 13 133 208 247 440 488
Minonty interests - - (15) (7 3) - - {15) (73
Equity attributable to

owners of the parent 219 108 (02) 60 208 247 425 415

At 31 March 2011, the group had cash balances of
f46 million (2010 £152 mihon), compnsing £15 million
(2010 £4 7 milion) held by BNC and £3 1 milion (2010
£105 millien} held by other Mwana Africa group entties
The book value of shareholders” equity at the year end was
£42 S million {2010 £41 5 mithon)

Freda Rebecca

A combination of continued investment in assets, the ramp up
to Phase Il and the impairment reversal of £11 7 million has
resulted In an increase in non-current assets to £26 4 million
{2010 £13 2 milion)

Current assets increased by £3 9 miflion to £6 6 million (2010
£27 million) This amount includes an increase In trade
debtors of £1 2 million, an increase 1n spares and inventory of
£2 0 million and other debtors of £0 7 million

MWANA  AFRICA.

Bindura Nickel Corporation

The value of current assets reduced by £55 millon to
£6 2 milhen (2010 £11 7 million) owing to conclusion of sales
of various in-process mventones, certain non-critical stocks and
spares, sale of the remaining portion of the equity portfolio,
and receipts from an outstanding debtor Raising additional
provisions have resulted in an increase 1n current lhabilities to
£20 3million (2010 £15 6 million)

Other Mwana Africa group

The value of non-current assets increased to £24 0 mullion (2010
£17 1 milhon} as a result of additional exploration expendrture
which was capitalised during the year in accordance with the
group's policy




Group liquidity

At 31 March 2011, the group, excluding BNC, held cash of
£31 milion (2010 £105 million) As at 30 june 2011, the
group, excluding BNC, held cash of £8 8 million fallowing funds
raised of £8 8 mitlion 1n June 2011 and positive operational cash
flows from Freda Rebecca

IDC facility

As announced in Feoruary 2011, following the fulfiiment of
requred conditons, Including the provision by the Export
Credit Insurance Corporation of South Africa (“ECIC”) of
political nsk insurance for the faclity, Fredz Rebecca drew down
the first US$4 million tranche of the Industrial Development
Corporation of South Africa Ltd {"IDC”) US$10 million project
finance facility The facility 1s repayable in 10 equal instalments
over a five-year penod and attracts an interest rate of
USSLIBOR plus 5%

Drawdown of the second tranche of the faclity, totallng
Us$6 million, is subject to independent venfication of JORC/
SAMREC-complhant measured gold resources, sufficient to
support a 10-year mine ife Adequate Inferred and indicated
Resources to support this mine life were defined in the resource
update at fFreda Rebecca announced in Apnl 20%1 and
discussions are ongeoing with the IDC to confirm whether this 1s
sufficient to meet the drawdown condition

Going concern

The directors, after making enquines and considering the
uncertamnties described further in note 2 Basis of preparation
to the financial statements ‘going concern’, have a reasonable
expectation that the company and the group have zdequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future Accordingly they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the Annual Report and finangial statements
and these finanaal statements do not include any adjustments
that would result from the going concern basis of preparation
being inappropriate
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Overview of social and environmental responsibility

Mwana Africa’s reputatien for responsible development has been established by ensuring a safe working environment for its staff, by
delivering benefits to the communities in which it operates, and by minimising the environmental impact of its activities The company’s
primary contribution to the remote areas in which 1t operates s the simulation of econom:c actvity through the creation of jobs, devel-
opment and support of local businesses, the use of local contractors, and the purchase of goods and services from nearby suppliers The
focus of Mwana Africa’s secial intiatives continues to be in education, health, and support of small and medium enterprises (SMES)

The Mwana group policies for Business Principles, Occupaticnal
Heath and Safety, Enwvironment, and Corporate Sccal
Responsibility (CSR) were all updated and revised during this
reporting period All Exploration Standards of Practice were
similarly reviewed and re-issued Stakeholder engagement
1s actively pursued through a vanety of formal and informal
meetings, bnefings, surveys, and feedback sessions on
1ssues raised

Gwen the importance of CSR, Mwana was very proud that
Freda Rebecca received an award for the best CSR programme
in 2010 1n the Mashonoland Central region by the Zimbabwe
Chamber of Commerce

As per the South African Department of Mineral Resources
requirements, for the calendar year to 31 December 2010,
the Khpspringer diamond mine was 62% compliant with the
South African 2002 Mining Charter targets for black economic
empowerment (BEE), employment equity (EE) and localisation of
recruitment and procurement, skills training, and environmental
practices

Workplace health and safety

Mwana Africa recognises that exploration and miming have an
inherent level of risk, and 15 pleased to report that no fataliues
occurred this year at any of its operations Proactive safety
management programmes instituted at our active mines resulted
in reductions in the lost time iyury frequency rate (LTIFR} at the
Klipspringer dhamond mine from 14 78 to 1 06, and from 5 61
to 053 at the Freda Rebecca Mine Both mines and all our
exploration operations routinely achieved months in which no
lost time injuries were reported Freda Rebecca Mine began the
initial systems and documentation compilaton for certification
to the OHSAS 18001 1999 standard for occupational health
and safety
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Employment

At the year end, Mwana Africa employed 2,991 people, of
which 276 are in management and adrinistrative positions

Preference duning recruitment 1s given to the local community,
especially for unskilled and semi-skilled positions With the
exception of senior expatriate management, all staff in
our exploration operations are drawn from the immediate
communites At Freda Rebecca Ming in Zimbabwe 94% of
the workforce 1s from the local town of Bindura 90% of BNC's
staff are from the local communities of Bindura and Shangani

Between 90% and 100% of our workforce are represented
by unions, which contribute to positive labour relations and
collaboration with management through joint forums on Issues
such as wages, conditions of employment, Qccupational Health
and Safety, and serious diseases such as HIV/AIDS No employee
days were lost to industrial actien At the Klipspringer diamond
mine in South Africa, 52% of the workforce was recruited from
the immediate community and a further 41% from within
the province

Local economic impact

At the Klipspninger and the Freda Rebecca Mines, 31% and
23% respectively of total procurement expenditure was sourced
from local/provinaizl suppliers Several small business enterprises
have been established or assisted by Freda Rebecca to provide
services to the rine and the mine villages, and to encourage
entrepreneurial ventures The mines and exploration projects
assist with infrastructure support such as the refurbishment of
schools, upgrade of roads, and the construction of small bridges

Where operations interact with artisanal gold miners, the
company has undertaken studies to better understand the
issues of and challenges faced by these populations This 1s as a
prelude to formulating a strategy to manage future interactions




with the am to improve these miners working conditions
At Zam, PACT, an Amerncan NGO, 15 assisttng Mwana with
this process

Education

Freda Rebecca Mine has developed a partnership with the
ltallan NGO Terre des Hommes to improve the educational
facilities at the local village’s créche This NGO aims to uphft
vulnerable children through the full provision of school fees
for a child s educational career It 1s hoped that this partnership
can be extended to the local pnimary schools in the Bindura
area Both BNC and Freda Rebecca Mine assist local scholars
to complete therr tertiary education by providing them with
six-month vocational placements The Freda Rebecca Mine
15 also sponsoring four students through therr degrees at the
School of Mines BNC provides on-site primary school education,
funds secondary schooling and grants a number of scholarships
to higher education institutions for employees’ children

Employee and community health

The pnncipal health ssues faced in the regions where Mwana
Africa operates are malana and HIV/AIDS The company
prowides medicines, educatton and training for the prevention
and treatment of both diseases, as well as associated infections
such as tuberculosis BNC and Freda Rebecca Mine also staff
and fund the occupational health as well as primary health
care clinics for employees and therr famiies Freda Rebecca
recently began offering an Employee Assistance Programme to
its employees and dependents, which focused on counselling
for work and lifestyle problems Mwana's mine operations
have all implemented community-wide HIV/AIDS management
strategles linked to the concept of overall Wellness This indudes
awareness and education campaigns, voluntary counsefling and
testing (VCT), and health care training UNICEF donates pnmary
health care drugs to Freda Rebecca, which passes on the unused
portions to the local provincial hospital

Both Freda Rebecca and BNC have been accepted into the
HIV/AIDS assistance programme co-ordinated by the Swedish
Workplace HIV & AIDS Programme (SWHAP} This was possible
through the relationship with a Swedish company, one of
Mwana’s major equipment suppliers Assistance from this
organisatton will tmprove the implementation of Mwana's

Zimbabwean HIV/AIDS and Wellness practices, and assist with
specialized studies such as zero-prevalence surveys, Knowledge,
Attitude and Practice (KAP) questionnaires, and statistical nsk
assessments Both grganisations alse receive assistance from the
Zimbabwean Business Council on Aids (ZBCA) Freda Rebecca,
through a company supported medical aid, provides anti-
retroviral (ARVs} medication to affected employees and therr
dependents BNC has initiated the process of providing this aid
through the same medical aid organisation

Environmental impact

Mwana Afnca limits the impact of its operations on the
envirgnment through respensible waste disposal and preventian
of pollution, and optimising the use of resources such as water,
fuel and electricity Proactive measures are taken to conserve
local biodiversity, and 10 re-establish hatwtats disrupted by
vehicle movemnent, waste rock dumps and tailings dams

In all but one of our operations, intermal and external
environmental audits were completed No signficant non-
compliances were found, and Freda Rebecca receved a
complimentary report from the Zimbabwean Chamber of Mines
for overhauled environmental management systems Monitorng
of water discharged by pumping after the flooding incidents at
Klipspringer diamond mine showed no contamination of the
groundwater Geohydrological studres at Freda Rebecca Mine
established that the groundwater has not been contaminated
with acid mine drainage (AMD} or industnal pollution or effluent
Proactive water quality practices have sufficently improved on
Freda Rebecca Mine 1o reduce its discharge permits from red
to blue

Freda Rebecca has successfully implemented an Environmental
Management Programme, prepared In accordance with the
Equator Principles and the performance standards of the IFC/
World Bank/World Health Organisaton Guidelines This mine
has begun the process of obtaining 15014001 certification for
environmental practices

Mwana Africa recognises its obligation to rehabilitate the sites
where 1t has operated Financial provisions are in place for costs
associated with the closure of the company's operations in
Zimbabwe and South Africa, as prescribed by local laws




Board of directors

Olwer Baring (66)
Executive Chairman

QOliver Banng 15 a former Managing
Drrector of UBS in the Corporate Finance
Division, where he was responsible for
the Africa and Mining sectors Before
the merger with $G Warburg, he was a
Partner of Rowe & Pitman, hawving spent
five years with the Anglo Amencan/
De Beers group in the United States,
the Urited Kingdom and South Africa
Mr Baring is currently a Non-executive
Chairman of First Africa Holdings Limited,
a Non-executive Director of BlackRock
World Mining Trust plc and Ferrexpo
plc, and an adviser to the Sentient
Resources Fund
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Kalaa Mpinga (50)
Chief Executive Officer

Kalaa Mpinga, whoisacitizen of the DRC,
has held a number of senior positions in
different locations around the world His
career has included working for Bechtel
Corporation in San Francisco and Anglo
American Corporation of South Africa
from 1991 in 1995 he joined the New
Mining Division, the dvision responsible
for exploration and the acquisition of
resources In Afnca He was appointed a
Director of Anglo American Corporation
In 1997 Mr Mpinga left the group
in December 2001 to pursue business
opportunities 11 mining, founding
Mwana Africa Holdings (Piy) Limited,
the forerunner of Mwana Africa, in 2003
He 15 also a Non-executive Director of
Group Five Limited, a South Afnican
construction cormpany

Donald McAlister (52)

Finance Director

Donald McAlister has significant breadth
of expenence in the mining secior,
ncluding 19 years of experience as a
Finance Director for Afncan mining
companies Prior to |cining Mwana
Africa he was Finance Director of
Ridge Mining PLC from 1999 until its
acquisition by Aquanus  Platinum in
July 2009 At Ridge Mining he helped
manage the acquisition, financing and
development, through to production of
the Blue Ridge platinum mine Prior to
Ridge Mining, Mr McAlister was Finance
Director at Reunion Miming PLC where
his experence included the financing of
gold and base metal mines in 2imbabwe,
Zambia and Namibia Before that he
worked n finance roles at Centurion
Mining PLC, Enterpnse Ol PLC and
Cluff Oil PLC He s currently a Non-
executive Director of AIM listed mining
company Tertiary Minerals plc where he
1s Chairman of the Audit Committee



Stuart Morris {65)
Non-executive Director

Stuart Morns was appointed to the
Board in December 2005 He became a
Partner of KPMG South Africa in 19786,
later becoming Semior Partner and a
member of the KPMG International
executive and beard He was Charman
of the South African Institute of
Chartered Accountants’ Ethics Committee,
President of the Johannesburg Chamber
of Commerce and Industry, a Pubkc
Investment Commissioner, and a Counal
member of the Unwersity of the
Witwatersrand From 1999 until 2004,
when he retired, Mr Morns was Group
Financial Director of Nedbank Group
Limited He 1s currently an independent
Non-executive Chairman or Director,
including Chairman of the audit & nsk
and remuneration committees, of several
other listed and unlisted entities

John Anderson (70)
Non-executive Director

John Anderson was appointed to the
Board in February 2007 He 1s Executive
Chairman of J O Hambro Investment
Management Lmited where he manages
investment portfolios for what 15
predominantly an international client
base Prior to Joining the company
In 1988, he was a Director of ) Henry
Schroder Wagg, and was instrumental
in establishing and managing Schroder
SecurniiesLimited Previously he was both
Finance and International Partner at the
London stockbrokers, Panmure Gordon
& Co Mr Anderson has been nvolved
i natural resources and emerging
markets for more than 40 years,
15 a graduate of the Unwersity of
Edinburgh and qualified as a Scottish
Chartered Accountant in 1966

Etienne Denis (68)
Non-executive Director

Etenne Denis was apponted to the
Board in February 2007 He holds a PhD
tn Science from the University of Louvain
(UCL) After working at the university
and wath Gécamines in the DRC, he
joined Umicore (formerly known as
Union Minigre) in 1974 where he held
a number of management positions,
including those of Managing Director
of Union Zinc, Umicore Engineering
and Sibeka until 2003 When he retired,
Mr Denis became a board member of
Umicore untd med-2005 when he moved
to the board of Cumerno He was a
Director of Adastra Minerals Inc untl
2006, when 1t was purchased by First
Quantum Minerals
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011

Principal activities

The group’s main actiwities are exploration, development and production of gold, nickel, copper and diamonds Further information
concerning the actiities of the group and tts future prospects are contained in the Chairman’s letter on pages 2 and 3 and the Review
of operations and exploration on pages 6 to 13

Business review

The loss for the year attnbutable to shareholders of the parent company was £2 1 milion (2010 £14 5 million) The directors do not
recommend the payment of a dividend on ordinary shares As required by the Companies Act 2006, the company must provide a fair
review of the development and performance of the group during the year ended 31 March 2011, its financial position at the end of
the year and likely future developments in the group’s business The information which satisfies these requirerhents 1s to be found 1n
the Chairman’s letter on pages 2 and 3, the Chief executive’s review on pages 4 and 5, the Review of operations and exploration on
pages 6 to 13, and the Financial review on pages 14 to 17

Principal risks and uncertainties

The operating entities are alsc exposed to changes in the market prices of gold, nickel and diamonds The group does not hedge
against sales prices of commodities or exchange rates Cash balances are held in the British pound, the United States dollar and the
South Afncan rand

The group 15 significantly exposed to the nisks inherent to all exploration activities Management limits the group’s exposure 1o this nisk
by closely monitoring the results of all exploration activities and by evaluating the feasibiiity of exploration prospects against changes
In the relevant markets on an ongoing bass

Zimbabwean indigenisation

In 2007, the Zimbabwean government published the Indigensation and Economic Empowerment Act which made provision for the
indigerusation of up to 51% of all foreign-owned businesses operating in Zimbabwe Regulations in support of the Indigenisation Act
were published in February 2010 in preparation for the implementation of the Act

On 25 March 2011 the Minister of Youth Development, Indigemisation and Empowerment published a notice In the government
gazette promulgating the Indigenisation and Economic Empowerment (General) Regulations in statutory instrument 21 of 2010
The document sets out the requirements for the implementation of the Indigenisation Act and its supporting regulations as they
pertain to the miring sector These regulations include the requirement to transfer a mimmum of 51% or a controlling Interest to
indigenous Zimbabweans They also state that the valuation of the shares would be calculated taking into account the State's sovereign
ownership of the minerals exploited

The company has submitted representations relating to the indigenisation reguiations to the Zimbabwe government and discussions
are ongoing o determine the iImpact, if any, on Mwana’s shareholding in its Zimbabwean assets

52 9% of BNC 15 owned by Mwana with Zimbabwean shareholders owning the remaiming 47 1%, which includes the government who
own approximately 22% through government controlled entities The directors of Mwana consider that through the local ownership
and the participation by BNC in local community initiatives, BNC substantially complies with Zimbabwean indigenisation regulations
existing and proposed BNC has submitted its Indigenssation Plan and 1s in discussion with government concerning the restructuring
of BNC s creditors

Freda Rebecca Gold Mine which (s currently 100% owned, submitted 11s Indigerisation Plan i 2010 and 15 in discussion with
government concerning these proposals The Board of Mwana anticipates that these discussions will result in an ownership structure
that will benefit all stakeholders and will not reduce Mwana’s ability to control the cash flows of Freda Rebecca although there may
be a reduction in Its economic interest Mwana has already committed to sell a 15% interest in Freda Rebecca Gold Mine to a focal
Zimbabwean investor as detalled in note 31 to the accounts
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Key performance indicators

The key performance inchcators are presented in the Review of operations and exploration and in the Financial review

Changes in share capital

Details of changes in the share capital during the year are set out in note 26 to the financial statements

Creditor payment policy

Each operating company n the group Is responsible for agreeing the terms of transactions, including payment terms, wath suppliers
and, provided that suppliers perform in accordance with the agreed terms, 1t 1s the group’s policy that payment 1s made accordingly
Trade creditors of the group at 31 March 2011 represented 90 days (2010 154 days} of annual purchases, including capital expenditure
and 57 days (2010 93 days) for the group excluding 8NC  As reported in the Financial review on pages 14 to 17, BNC has remained
on care and maintenance, pending financing for the planned restart of the Trgian mine As such, BNC's iguidity has conseguently been
severely restricied, slowing payments to Its creditors

Subsequent events

The post balance sheet events are descnibed in note 33 to the ftnancal statements

Directors

The current directors of the company are as follows
Executive directors

0AG Baring Executive Charman

KK Mpinga Chief Executive Officer
DAR McAlister Finance Director

Non-executive directors
SG Morns

JA Anderson

E Denis

The directors retining by rotation are Mr SG Morris and Mr E Denis who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
The interests of the directors and their remuneration are described in the Directors’ remuneration report which 1s on pages 25 to 29

Major shareholdings

The share register records that the following shareholders held 3% or more of the 1ssued share capital of the company at
22 July 2011

Shareholder Number of shares % Interest
Vidacos Nominees Limited 86,955,389 121
State Street Nominees Limited <QMO02> 60,049,630 83
Chase Nominees Limited 31,844,713 44
Chase Nominees Limited <CMBL> 26,290,350 37
TD Waterhouse Nominees (Europe) Limited 25,780,068 36

2



Directors’ report cont

International financial reporting standards

The group has prepared its consohdated accounts for the year ended 31 March 2011 in accordance with International Finangal
Reporting Standards as endorsed by the European Union {EU-endorsed IFRSS)

Political contributions and charitable donations

The group made no pohtical contnibutions duning the year Charitable donations amounted to £9,732 (2010 £2,138)

Disclosure of information to auditors

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there 1s no
relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he ought to
have taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors are
aware of that nformation

Auditors

In accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plg as auditors of the
company Is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting

By order of the Board
Gv‘\-ﬁ"—m P’ﬁu.a)"
B Tuck

Company Secretary

25 July 2011
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Directors’ remuneration report

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, compnising non-executive directors SG Morris and E Denis, and chared by non-executive director
JA Anderson, reviews the performance of the executve directors and sets and reviews the scale, structure and basis of their remuneration
and the terms of their service agreements, paying due regard to the interests of shareholders as a whole and the performance of the
company

In determining the remuneration of executive directors, the Remuneration Committee seeks ta enable the company to attract and retain
executives of the highest calibre The Remuneration Commuttee also makes recommendations to the Beard concerning the allocation
of share options to employees No director 1s permitted to participate in discussions or decisions concerning his own remuneration

Remuneration policy

The policy on directors’ remuneration is that the overall remuneration package should be sufficiently competitive to attract and retamn
indmduals of a quality capable of achieving the group’s abjectives

The reruneration policy 15 designed such that iIndmduals are remunerated on a basis that s appropnate to their position, experience
and value to the company

The Remuneration Committee deterrmines the contract terms, basic salary and other rerauneration for each of the executive directors,
including performance related share options, bonuses, pension rights and any compensation payments

Executive remuneration package

The detarls of indvidual components of the remuneration package and service and employment contracts are discussed below

Basic salary and benefits
The policy 15 to review salary and benefits annually against competitive market data and analysis, and adjust accordingly

Benus scheme
There i no formal bonus scheme in place and no bonus awards were pard in respect of the year ended 31 March 2011

Share options

The company has cutstanding options under an unapproved Share Option Scheme adopted in 1957, which expired n September
2007 (1997 Scheme} and a new scheme which was approved by shareholders at the company’s annual general meeting on
31 July 2007 (2007 Schemne)

1997 Scheme

Under the 1997 Scheme unapproved share options were granted o directors and employees by the Remuneration Committee
The company's policy on the granting of share options 1s to make such awards that are necessary 10 recruit and retain executives
Detarls of option awards made under this scheme and the previous option arrangements are detailed in note 31

The company has operated this scheme since 1997 where options were granted to any employee, oificer or director of the company
or any subsichary of the company The hmit for options granted under this scheme was not to exceed 15% of the number of 1ssued
ordinary shares from time to tme

The Board granted options at its discretion The subseription price was fixed by the Board at the price per share on the dealing day
preceding the date of grant

These options vest immediately and may be exercised at any time wathin a seven-year penad from the date of the grant, unless the
Board determines otherwise The options lapse If not exeraised by the seventh anmiversary of the grant It was the Board's policy to
spread the vesting penod for options granted to employees over two to three years

Unless the Board agrees otherwise, the nght to exerase an option terminates on the holder ceasing to be a participant, subject to
certain exceptions, which broadly apply in the event of death of the option holder or where the option holder ceases to be a participant
due to retirement, il health, accident or redundancy In such a case, the option may be exercised within six months of such event
provided such exercise will take place within seven years of the original date of grant
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Directors’ remuneration report cont

2007 Scheme

The 2007 Scheme allows for awards of both tax approved options (approved options) to be made to employees resident in the United
Kingdom and unapproved options (unapproved options), to be made to both resident and non-resident employees The company’s
policy on the granting of share options 15 to make such awards that are necessary to recrunt and retan executives Detalls of option
awards made under this scheme are detaled in note 31

The company has operated this scheme since December 2007 where options may be granted to fuli-ume employees and directors of
the company or any subsidiary of the company The overall imit for options granted under this scheme and any other employees' share
scheme adopied by the company 1s, in any rolling 10-year penod, 10% of the issued ordinary share capital (including treasury shares)
of the company for the time being plus 8,100,000 ordinary shares There is an indwidual hmit of a maxmum of ordinary shares to the
value of £30,000 tn respect of approved options

Options may be granted when the Remuneration Committee deterrines, within 42 days of the announcement by the company of
its full or interim resuits Options may be granted outside the 42-day perod if the Remuneration Commuittee considers there to be
exceptional arcumstances Options must be granted subject to performance conditions being satisfied The performance conditions
must be objective and, save where the Remuneration Committee determines there to be exceptional arcumstances, the performance
conditions must relate to the overall financial performance of the company or the market value of ordinary shares over a peried of
at least three years The performance conditions can be waived or amended by the Remuneration Commitiee if 1t determines that a
change of grcumstances means that the performance conditions cannot reasonably be met No consideration 15 payable on the grant
of an option and ne option may be granted after 31 July 2017

The Remuneration Committee determines the exercise price before the options are granted which cannot be less than the market
value of the shares on the date of grant

The options can be exeraised only on or after the third anniversary of the date of grant provided the performance conditions have been
satishied or waved by the Remuneration Committee The options lapse if not exercised by the 10th anniversary of the grant

These options lapse when the option holder ceases to be anehigible employee Inthe case of death, a partiopant’s personal representatives
may exercise hisher options within 12 months after the date of death Where an option holder ceases to be an employee by reason
of injury, disaulity, redundancy, the company that employs the option holder ceasing to be a subsidiary of the company, retrement,
pregnancy orin any other arcumstances determined by the Remuneration Committee, the options may be exercised within six months
of the termination of employment or such longer penod as may be determined by the Remuneration Committee

Share incentives

The Share Incentive Scheme was approved by shareholders at the companys annual general meeting on 31 July 2007 The Share

Incentive Scheme s designed to complement the Share Option Scheme 10 facilitate awards to selected executives and managers

The Share Incentive Scheme permits the award of any one or a combination of the following iIncentives

* the sale of ordinary shares on deferred payment terms,

* share awards as part of 2 bonus scheme by way of nil cost options in consideration of cash bonuses forgone on terms that would
be determined by the Remuneration Committee of the company, and

+ the issue of share appreciation nights erther by the company or EBT (as defined below)

The company has also adopted an Employees’ Benefit Trust (EBT) which will operate in conjunction with the Share Option Scheme and
Share Incentive Scherme The EBT has not yet been utilised for this purpose and there have been no awards under the Share Incentive
Scheme since 1t was approved by shareholders

Pensions

The company does not operate a pension scheme for executive directors but does, according to the director’s preference, contnbute to
the personal penston plan of each executive director, or pays cash In ieu of such contributions up to a specified maximum of 12 5%
of salary No pension contributions are made In respect of non-executive directors

MWANA  AFRICA..




Fees
The fees for non-executive directors are determined by the Board, having taken independent expert advice on appropnate levels, and

are reviewed on an annual basis

Service contracts
The service and employment contracts of the executive directors are not of a fixed duration and therefore have no unexpired terms,

but continuation 1n office as a director s subject 1o re-election by shareholders as required under the company's Articles of Association
The company s policy 1s for executive directors to have service and employment congracts with prowision for termination of no longer

than 12 months' notice

The non-executive directors do not have service contracts Letters of appointment provide for terminatton of the appointment with
three months' notice by either party Details of the current directors’ contracts or appointment dates are as follows

Executive directors Employer Date of contract
KK Mpinga Mwana Africa Holdings Limited 16 December 2009
DAR McAlister Mwana Africa PLC 27 October 2009
OAG Baring Mwana Africa PLC 18 June 2007
Non-executive directors Employer Date of appointment
SG Morrnis Mwana Africa PLC 6 December 2005
JA Anderson Mwana Afnica PLC 27 February 2007
E Denis Mwana Africa PLC 27 February 2007

Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of the directors who held office dunng the year 15 as follows

Basic Annual Benefits iIn  Share-based 2011 2010
Director salary/feein bonus@ kind® payments Total Total
KK Mpinga 310,000 - 57.126 29,758 396,884 579,037
QAG Banng 220,000 - 75,725 19,343 315,068 440,303
DAR McAlister 240,000 - 33,552 22,319 295,871 201,126
PE Sydney-Smith« - - - - - 40,918
KC Qwen® - - - - - 135,258
$G Mornis 40,000 - - - 40,000 40,000
JA Anderson 32,500 - - - 32,500 20,000
E Deris® 20,000 - - - 20,000 20,000
Total 862,500 - 166,403 71,420 1,100,323 1,394,806

N Salaries for Mr Mpinga and Mr Banng were increased with effect from 1 Aprl 2010 hawng not been adjusted since 1 January 2008 The fee payable to
Mr Anderson was increased with effect from 1 Apnl 2010 in recogmition of his additional respensibiliies as Charman of the Remuneration Committee

1 N honuses were awarded n respect of the year ended 31 March 2011

& genefits 1n kind relate 10 hfe, medical insurance and pension contrbutions for Mr QAG Barng and Mr DAR McAhster, and pension contnbutions and secunty
services for Mr KK Mpnga

W Resigned a3 a director on 9 September 2009

5} Resigned as a director on 3 September 2009

& The fee 1s paid to Saprensa Spri, & company in wihich Mr Deris has an interest




Directors’ remuneration report cont

Contnbutions 1in heu of directors’ pensions were as follows

2011 2010
Director £'000 £'000
KK Mpinga 34 34
OAG Baring 26 24
DAR McAlister 29 14
PE Sydney-Smith - -
KC Owen - 13
SG Morris - -
JA Anderson - -
E Denis - -
Total 89 85

All contrbutions were either made to personal pension schemes of directors or accrued for future payment to personal pension
schemes

Directors and directors’ share interests

The directors durning the year and their beneficial interests at the year-end were as follows

Ordinary shares of 10p Ordinary shares of 10p

each at 31 March 2011 each at 31 March 2010
Number % Number %
Palanka Trusts 16,227,260 303 16,227,260 332
Kalaa Katema Mukubay: Trust 19,981,415 373 19,981,415 409
KK Mpinga 2,000,000 037 2,000,000 04
OAG Baring® 2,052,976 038 2,052,976 042
DAR McAlister 500,000 009 500,000 010
PE Sydney-Smith - - - -
KC Owen - - - -
5G Morris 500,000 009 400,000 c o8
JA Anderson 250,000 005 250,000 005
E Denis - - - -

) Mr KK Mpinga contrals the voting nghts i Palanka Trust
) Related to Mr KK Mpinga
B) Held through Mr OAG Barning s personal pension fund
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Directors’ share options

Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire ardinary shares in the company
granted to or held by the directors Details of directors’ interests in shares held under option are shown below

Options Options Options

Options granted lapsed  exerased Options

held at 31 during the dunng the dunngthe held at 31 Exercise Latest
Officer March 2010 year year year March 2011 pricett expiry date
Unapproved Options - 1997 Scheme
KK Mpinga 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 60p 12/07/2014
QAG Baring 2,750,000 - (70,000) - 2,680,000 61p 12/07/2014
DAR McAlister ~ - - - - - -
PE Sydney-Srmith - - - - - - -
KC Owen 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 55p  03/09/2012
G Morns 850,000 - - - 850,000 44p  07/12/2013
A Anderson 500,000 - - - 500,000 48 75p  17/0472014
E Denis 500,000 - - - 500,000 48 75p  17/04/2014
Unapproved Options — 2007 Scheme
KK Mpinga 4,600,000 - - - 4,000,000 27p  10/12/2019
QOAG Barnng 3,300,000 - - - 3,300.000 290 1011222019
DAR McAlister 1,285,715 - - - 1,285,715 14p 1011272019
PE Sydney-Smith - - - - - - -
KC Owen 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 3% 03/09/2012
SG Morns - - - - - - -
JA Anderson - - - - - - -
E Denis - - - - - - -
Approved Options - 2007 Scheme
KK Mpinga - - - - - - -
0AG Baning 76,923 - - - 76,923 39p 13/03/2018
DAR McAlister 214,285 - - - 214,285 14p 10122019
PE Sydney-Smith - - - - - - -
KC Owen - - - - - - -
SG Morrns - - - - - - -
JA Anderson - - - - - - -
E Denis - - - - - - -

) Exercise price 15 the wenghted average of all share options held based on the prce at the grant date

No share options were exercised duning the current or prior year
The intrinsic values of ali options which have vested duning the year was £nil (2010 £nul}
No optrons have been awarded to directors between the year-end and the signing of these accounts

The market price of the company's shares on 31 March 2011 was 7 4 pence per ordinary share and the highest and lowest share pnces
during the year were 14 00 pence and 6 98 pence respectively

The agreements covering directors’ options are avalable for inspection at the company's registered office Devon House,
12-15 Dartmouth Street, London, SW1H 9BL The company s register of cirectors’ interests (which 1s also open to inspection) contains
full details of the directors’ shareholdings and options to subscribe

Signed on behalf of the Board by

OAG Banng
Executive Charrman
25 July 2011
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

To the shareholders of Mwana Africa PLC

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repart and the group and parent company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations

Company law reguires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year As required by
the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange they are required to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements on the same basis

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they qive a true and fair view

of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period in prepaning each of the group and

parent company financial statements, the directars are required to

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

» make Judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

* state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and

= prepare the fingncial staterments on the going concern basis unless 1t s inappropnate to presume that the group and the parent
company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company's
transactions and disclose with reasanable accuragy at any tme the financial posttion of the parent company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are respensible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on the company's
website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
unsdictions

e Bo,
AR McAlister

Finance Director
25 July 2011
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Statement of corporate governance

The directors support the principles of good corporate governance While not mandatory for an AIM listed company, the directors have
implemented, where practical for a company of 11s size and nature, certain provisions of the principles of good governance and code
of best practices under the 2008 Combined Code The disclosures presented herein are imited and are not intended to constitute a
corporate governance statement as prescribed by the Disclosures and Transparency Rules or the Companies Act

The Board has also considered the guidance published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales concerming the
internal control requirements of the Combined Code, in line wath the Turnbull Report The Board regularly reviews key business risks,
via a number of properly constituted committees, in addition to the financial risks facing the group in the operations of the business

The Board

The Board meets at least quarterly throughout the year The Board is responsible for formulating, reviewing and approving the group's
strategy, planning, budgets, major items of capital expenditure, acquisitions, risk, human resources and environmental management

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee meets at least twice during the year and s responsible for ensuring that the finanaal performance of the
company Is properly reported on and monitored, and for meeting the auditors and reviewing the auditors reports relating to the
accounts The cemmittee also recommends the appointment of, and reviews the fees of, the external auditors It meets once a year
with the auditors without executive Board members present The Audit Committee comprises at least three members, two of whom
shail be non-executive The current membership of the committee 15 Mr G Mornis (Chairman), Mr € Deris and Mr JA Anderson

Remuneration Committee

A Remuneration Committee meets at least twice per year It reviews the performance of the executive directors and sets and reviews
the scale, structure and basis of their remuneration and the terms of ther senice agreements paying due regard to the interest of
shareholders as a whole and the performance of the company The Remuneration Committee comprises the non-executive directors,
Mr JA Anderson (Chairman), Mr SG Morris and Mr E Denis The Directors’ remuneration report appears on pages 25 to 29

Internal controls

The directors have overall responsibifity for the group's internal control effectiveness 1n safeguarding the assets of the group Internal
control systems are designed to reflect the particular type of business, operations and safety nsks and to identify and manage risks,
but not entirely all risks to which the business is exposed As a result, internal controls can only provide a reasonable, but not absolute
assurance aga:nst material misstatements or loss

The pracesses used by the Board to review the effectiveness of the internal controls are through the Audit Commiitee and the executive
management reporting to the Board on a regular basis where business plans, budgets and authonsation limits for the approval
of significant expenditure, sncluding investments are appraised and agreed The Board also seeks to ensure that there 15 a proper
organisational and management structure with clear responsibilities and accountability

It 1s the Board’s policy to ensure that the management structure and the quality and integrity of the personnel are compatible with the
reguiremenits of the group

n
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Mwana Africa PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Mwana Africa PLC for the year ended 31 March 2011, set out on pages 34 to 74
Tne financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and International Finanaial Reporung
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as apphed in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to
them 1n an auditors’ report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit wark, for this report, or for the apinions we
have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities set cut on page 30, the dwectors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland} Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements 1s provided on the APB's web-site at www frc org uk/apb/scope/private cfm

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 March 2011
and of the group’s loss for the year then ended,

= the group financial statements have been properfy prepared Iin accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as applied
In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and as regards the
group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Emphasis of matter - going concern

In determining the form of our opinion on the financial statements, which 1s not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosures made in note 2 to the financial statements concerning the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern

In particular, the group’s ability to continue as a going concern 1s dependent upon its ability to effect suitable financial and other
arrangements to restart operations at Bindura Nickel Corporation and to settle deferred creditors or to continue to maintawmn all of the
BNC assets on care and maintenance

Furthermore, as disclosed in note 2, the group’s and the company’s financial position 15 also subject to uncertainties Iinked to the
rehance on ¢reditor deferral, commaodity market conditions and political and indigenisation risks in Zimbabwe These conditions, along
with other matters explained in note 2 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a matenal uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern The financial statements do not include the
adjustrments that would result if the group and company were unable to continue as a going concern

Emphasis of matter - carrying value of company investments

In determining the form of our opinion, which 15 not modified, we have considered the adequacy of disclosures made in note 18 to
the financial statements concerning the carrying value of investrnents held by the company in Mwana Africa Holdings {Pty} Ltd of
£44,618,315 (2010 £8,673,428) As disclosed in note 18, there are uncertainties linked to the implementation of the Indigenisation
Law in Zimbabwe The possible impact of this law 1s uncertain and represents a matenal uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
over the carrying value of the investments held by the company The financial statements do not include the adjustiments that would
result from the value of the investments being lower than their carrying amount as a result of the implementation of the reguirements
of the Indigenisation Law
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opimion the nformation given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financal statements are prepared 15
consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our

opinion

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been receved
from branches not wisited by us, or

» the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

+ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, ar

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

) Lowes
{Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square, Canary Wharf
25 July 2011
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Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2011

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

QOther income

Selling and distribution expenses
Care and maintenance expenses
Administrative expenses
Corporate expenses

Other expenses

Impairment loss

Imparrment reversal

Loss from cperating activities

Investment iIncome
Dimidends receved

Loss before finance charges and income tax

Finance income
Finance costs

Loss before income tax

Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Loss attnbutable to
Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interest

Loss for the year

Loss per share
Basic loss per share (pence)

Diluted loss per share (pence)

Note

1
1

12
12

15
15

2011 2010
£000 £7000
27,267 18,780
(18,442) {9,861)
8,825 8,919
1,988 728
1.131) (2,316
(11,054) {9,447)
(7.409) {5,240)
(a,916) {4,542)
(37) {4,250)

- (2,395)
11,743 4,073
{1.991) (14,470}
- 368

16 20
{1.975) (14,082)
87 134
{1.913) (428)
(3.801) (14,376}
(3.360) {67)
{(7.161) (14,443)
(2.148) (14,520)
(5.013) 17
(7.161) (14,443)
(042) {363)
(0 42) (363)

The presentation of the operating expenses in the iIncome statement has been changed for the year ended 31 March 2011 Refer to

note 7

The notes on pages 43 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financal statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/profit
Foreign currency translation differences
Net change in farr value of avalable-for-sale financial assets, net of tax

Other comprehensive profit for the year, net of income tax

Total comprehensive foss for the year

Total comprehensive loss attnbutable to
Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive loss for the year

201 2010
£'000 £000
(7.161) (14,443)
(1,219) {1,148)
(1,252) 1,252
(2.471) 104
(9,632) (14,339)
(3,862) {14,492)
(5.770) 153
(9,632) (14,339)
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2011

2011 2010

Note £000 £000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 46,832 35,451
Intangible assets 17 20,299 13,629
Investments 18 2,516 2,076
Deferred tax assets 19 1,575 -
Non-current receivables 20 948 1,005
Total non-current assets 72,170 52,191
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 21 4,592 15,156
Inventories 22 4,597 3,674
Trade and other recewvables 23 9,582 12,197
Avatlable-for-sale financial assets 24 - 2,250
Assets held for sale 25 - 108
Total current assets 18,771 33,385
Total assets 90,941 85,576
Equity
Issued share capital 26 53,514 48,877
Share premium 19,615 19,406
Reserves 62,541 64,291
Retained earnings (93,073) {91,100)
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 42,597 41,474
Non-controlling interest 1,551 7.321
Total equity 44,148 48,795
Liabilities
Non-current habilities
Loan payable 27 1,919 -
Rehabihtation provisions 28 11,201 13,954
Deferred tax liabilities 19 5,338 670
Total non-current habilities 18,458 14,624
Current habilities
Trade payables 8317 8,879
Provisions and other payables 29 20,018 13,278
Total current habiities 28,335 22,157
Total habilities 46,793 36,781
Total equity and habilities 90,941 85,576

The notes on pages 43 to 74 are an integral part of these financial statements

These financial stategfentsjwere approved by the Board of directors on 25 July 20

OAG Banng ,/ cAlister
Executive Chairman Finance Director
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Company balance sheet as at 31 March 2011

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Total non-current assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other recewables

Total current assets
Total assets

Equity

Issued share capital

Share premium

Reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company
Liabilities

Current habilities

Provisions and other payables
Total iabilities

Total equity and habilities

These financal stategnents were approved by the Board of directors on 25 July 201

OAG Banng
Executive Chairm

201 2010

Note £000 £000
16 67 92
18 46,435 10,602
46,502 10,694

21 1.279 8,856
23 37.4712 30,113
38,751 38,969

85,253 49,663

25 53,514 48,877
19,615 19,406

2,051 2,087
8,789 (21,780}

83,969 48,610

29 1,284 1,053
1,284 1,053

85,253 49,663

ere siged

3

n its bahalf by
r
r
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2011

2011 2010
Note £'000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activittes
Loss before income tax (3.801) (14,376}
Adjustments for
Inventory write-off 65 -
Foreign exchange movernents 313 {280}
Depreciation 1,265 1,192
Fair value adjustments (294) -
Charge in relation to share-based payments 139 262
{Decrease)increase in rehabilitation provisions (1.169) 8,295
Increase in other provisions 5,107 -
Increase in environmental assets (a8) (5,402)
Impairment loss - 2,395
Impairment reversal (11,743) (4,073
Profit on sale of non-current assets (996) {(557)
Profit on sale of equity investments - (368)
Loss on sale of assets held for sale - 1,036
Finange income (87) (134)
Finance costs 555 428
(10,694) (11,576}
(Increase)/decrease in inventortes (1,142) 4,113
Decrease/(increase) i trade and other receivables 1,905 (879)
Increase in creditors 2,555 743
{7.376) {7,599}
Finance costs (523) (428}
Income tax paid (10) (60)
Net cash used in operating activities (7,909) (8,087)
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to praperty, plant and equipment (3.995) (2,028)
lnvestment in intangible exploration assets (7.652) (4,047)
Acquisition of investments {25) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 51 439
Proceeds from sale of investments - 1,200
Proceeds from sale of avadable-for-sale financial assets 1,815 233
Finance ncome 87 134
Net cash used in Investing activities {9,719) (4,069)
Cash flows from financang activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital 5,100 8,834
Share 1ssue expenses (255) (4586)
Loans 2,440 (102)
Net cash from finanaing acuvities 7,285 8,276
Met decrease In cash and cash equivalents (10,343) (3.880)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 15,156 18,886
Exchange rate movement on cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (221) 150
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 21 4,592 15,156
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Company statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2011

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/{loss) before income tax

Adjustments for

Depreciation

Foreign exchange movements

Loss on sale of non-current assets

Charge in relation to share-based payments
Imparment loss

Impairment reversal

Finance income

Decrease tn Inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables

Increase in trade and other payables

Net cash used tn operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property, plant and eguipment

Acquisition of investments

Proceeds on sale of investment

Finance income

Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from finanaing activities

Proceeds fram 1ssue of share capital

Share issue expenses

Net cash from finanang activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 21

2011 2010
£000 £'000
30,404 (2,487}

29 19
2,074 -
9 -

91 186

- 2,332
(35,981) (4,331}
(25) (37
(3,399) {4,318)
- a7
(9,435) 9,771)
232 474
(12,602) (13,198}
(3) (54)
{25) {1,000
183 -
25 37
180 (1,017)
5,100 8,834
(255) {456)
4,845 8,378
(7.577) (5,837)
8,856 14,693
1,279 8,856
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2011

Share Share Translation
capital premium reserve

£'000 £000 £'000
Balance as at 31 March 2009 40,043 19,406 62,176

Loss for the year - - -
Foreign currency translation differences - - {634)
Revaluation of avallable-for-sale financial assets - - -

Deferred tax on avallable-for-sale financial assets - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (634)

Contributions by and distrbutions to owners

Issue of ordinary shares 8834 - -
Share 1ssue expenses - - ~
Share-based payment transactions - - —

Share-based payment reversals - - -

Total contributions by and distributions to owners 8,834 - -

Balance as at 31 March 2010 48,877 19,406 61,542

Loss for the year - - -
Foreign currency translation differences - - (1,052)
Reversal of fair value adjustments on available-for-sale financial assets - - -
Deferred tax on avalable-for-sale financial assets - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - {1.052)

Contnibutions by and distributions to owners

Issue of ordinary shares 4,637 - -
Share issue expenses - 209 -
Share-based payment transactions - - -
Share-based payment reversals - - -

Total contributions by and distnibutions to owners 4,637 209 -

Balance as at 31 March 2011 53,514 19,615 60,490
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Total equity

attnbutable
Investment to equity Non-

revaluation Treasury Share-based Retained holders of controlling Total
reserve stock payments earnings the parent interest equity
£:000 £000 £000 £°000 £'000 £000 £000

- (1,072) 3,247 {76,474) 47,326 7,168 54,494
- - - (14,520 (14,520) 77 (14,443)
- - - - {634) {514) (1,148}

697 - - - 697 621 1,318
(35) - - - (35} (31 (66)
662 - - (14,520 (14,492) 153 (14,339)

- - - ~ 8,834 - 8,834
- - - (456) {456) - (456)

- - 262 - 262 - 262

- - (350} 350 - - -

- - (88) (106) 8,640 - 8,640

662 (1,072) 3,158 (91,100) 41,474 7,321 48,795
- - - (2,148) (2,148) (5,013) (7,161)
- - - - (1,052) (167} (1,219
{697) - - - (697) (621) (1,318)

35 - - - 35 n 66
(662} - - (2,148) (3,862) {5,770) (9,632}

_ - - - 4,637 - 4,637

- - - ~ 209 - 209

- - 139 - 139 - 139

- - {175) 175 - - -

- - (36) 175 4,985 - 4,985

- (1,072) 3,123 {93,073) 42,597 1,551 44,148
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Company statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2011

Balance as at 31 March 2009
Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Contributions by and
distributions to owners

Issue of ordinary shares

Share 1ssue expenses

Share-based payment transactions
Share-based payment reversals

Total contnibutions by and
distributions to owners

Balance as at 31 March 2010
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive profit for
the year

Contributions by and
distributions to owners

Issue of ordinary shares

Premium on share 1ssue less expenses

Share-based payment transactions
Share-based payment reversals

Total contributions by and
distributions to owners

Balance as at 31 March 2011

Share-
Share Share Treasury based Retained Total
capital premium stock!”  payments® earnings equity
£'000 £000 £000 £°000 £'000 £000
40,043 18,406 (1,072} 3,247 (19,066} 42,558
- - - - (2,487) (2,487)
_ - - - (2,487) (2,487)
8,834 - - - - 8,834
- - - - (456) {456}
- - - 262 - 262
_ - - (350) 249 (101)
8,834 - - (38) (207) 8,539
48,877 19,406 (1,072) 3,159 (21,760) 48,610
_ - - - 30,404 30,404
- - - - 30,404 30,404
4,637 - - - - 4,637
- 209 - - - 209
- - - 139 - 139
_ . - (175) 145 (30)
4637 209 - (36} 145 4,955
53,514 19,615 {1.072) 3,123 8,789 83,969

M The treasury stock reserve represents the market value of Mwana Afrrca PLC shares which were purchased but not cancelled Represented 1s the value on the

date of purchase

 The share-based payments reserve represents the accrued employee entitlements to share awards that have beent charged to the income statement, as well as
accrued group employee entitfernents that have been debited to investments in subsidianes
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Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011

1. Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by the
European Union

The consclidated financial statements of the parent company (the company} and its subsidiaries (together, the group) and the financial
statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with International Financiai Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by
the European Union (EU}

2. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
With the exception of certain items noted below, which are carried at fair value, the financial statements have been prepared under
the histoncal cost convention

The company and consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable law and Internationai Financial
Reporting Standards (iFRSs) as adopted by the EU and, as regards the company financial statements, as appled in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has elected not to present
Its own INncome statement

Going concern

The directors, having considered the group’s and the companys current trading activities, funding position and projected funding
requirements and the Zimbabwean environment for the period at least twelve months from the date of approval of these financial
statements consider 1t appropriate to adopt the going concern basis In prepanng the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2011 The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future devetopment, performance and position
are set out 1n the Review of operations and exploration on pages 6 to 13 The financial position of the group, its cash flows and hquichty
position are as set out in the Financial review on pages 14 to 17 The group 1s also facing additional uncertainty arising from the recently
announced indigenisation law In Zimbabwe, further detarls of which are set out on page 22 The group reports a loss for the year ended
31 March 2011 of £7 2 million (2010 £14 4 milhon) As at 30 June 2011, the group held cash of £8 8 million, of which £0 7 millon 1$
held by BNC

Durnng the year to 31 March 2011, operations at Freda Rebecca have continued to ramp up and the Phase | production rate of
30,0000z of gold per annum was achieved In March Production averaged 2,9490z per month in the four months to June 2011, the
month in which the second mill was commissioned The second mull will enable production to be increased further As such, Freda
Rebecca is now well positioned to expand iis processing capability and reach the targeted Phase If annualised gold production rate of
50,0000z per annum The operating cash inflows from Freda Rebecca represent a strengthening of the group’s cash generating abilty

During the year there have been steps towards the planned restart of the Trojan mine at Bindura Nickel Corporation (“BNC*}
SRK Consulting completed their Competent Person's Report on the restart of operations at BNC This study confirmed the economic
and techrucal wiability of the planned restart of the Trejan mine and concentrator During the year BNC has also signed an agreement
for the off-take of all of the mickel concenirate from Troyan and has made progress arranging foan finance which wall provide part of
the funds required for the restart

BNC rematns on care and maintenance pending the restart of Trojan BNC s ongoing costs for the year to 31 March 2011 have been
funded from 115 own resources, inter-company loans from group and by the continued deferral of significant amounts which remain
due on demand to creditors The restart of BNC remains a prionity for the Board and the directors have considered the continued
care and maintenance costs of BNC in light of the group’s current cash resources They recognise that securing funds in the next
15 months wll be necessary to continue to maintain all of the BNC assets on care and maintenance Whilst securing financing for BNC
remarns a challenge in the current political chmate and with the uncertainty prevailing over the Zimbabwe government’s indigenisation
programme the directors are nevertheless making progress with negotations for loan finance and for the restructunng of creditor and
workforce labilities and befieve 1t 15 reasonable to plan on the basis that arrangements can be made to refinance BNC and to restart
operations in the coming year

The group’s other activities have been funded by its cash resources, including cash generated by Freda Rebecca together with proceeds
from equity 1ssues in October 2010 and June 2011 raising £4 8 milhon and £8 8 millon respectively and the drawing of US$4 million by
Freda Rebecca under the IDC loan faality The group has no other borrowings and US$& million of the IDC loan facility remains undrawn

43



Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 cont.

2. Accounting policies (continued)

The directors have prepared the cash flow forecasts of the group and are of the ocpinion that the group’s current cash resources,
together with the cash forecast to be generated by Freda Rebecca, are sufficent to fund all of the groups planned activities for at
least twelve months from the date of these financral statements, with the exception of the planned restart of operations at BNC which
will require additional funds to be raised The credttor restructuning at BNC and the financing (debt and equity) of the BNC restart Is
the subject of negotiations with a number of parties and the directors are confident that financing can be arranged within the twelve
menth perod The group cash flow forecast shows sufficient cash flows for the rest of the group and to keep BNC on care and
maintenance until the earlier of the BNC restart and autumn 2012

The directors are aware that various uncertainties might affect the vahdity of therr forecasts These uncertainties include mesal prices,
mining and processing nsks and resource and reserve risks, in addition to the political and indigerusation risks in Zimbabwe as noted
above which may constrain the ability of the company to control the movement of cash between entities The directors believe they
have the ability to manage cash flows and will continue to do so even taking into account the indigenisation proposals such that these
nsks could be mrbgated and their impact on the going concern status of the group and company 1s minimised This can be by achieved
by deferring discretionary exploration spend, drawing down the second tranche of the IDC loan when related conditions are met and
restructuning to meet the indigenisation faw in a way that the company 1s still able to exercise control over cash flows from both BNC
and Freda Rebecca However, the directors acknowledge that there 1s no certainty of successfully carrying out such mitigating steps

The directors have concluded that the combination of these arcumstances represents a matenal uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the company s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern and that therefore the company and the group may be
unable to realise all ther assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business This uncertainty rs inked to the current
rehance of BNC on creditor deferral and future availabiity of funding for BNC, general market conditions and reflects the pohucat
and economic situation in Zimbabwe and in particular the recent developments relating to indigenisation laws which the directors
have considered in the context of making their going concern assumption Nevertheless, after making enguiries and considering the
uncertainties described above the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have adequate resources to
continue 1n operational existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly they continue to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng
these financial siatements which do not include any adjustments that would result from the going concern basts of preparation being
mappropriate

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidianies are those entities over whose financial and operating pohicies the group has the ability 1o exercise control The group
financial statements incorporate the assets, labilties and results of operations of the company and its subsidianes The acquisiton
method of accounting has been adopted Under this method, the results of subsichanes acquired or disposed of during the year are
included n the consolidated income statement from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal

Jointly controlled entities — Khipspnnger diamond mine

A joint venture 15 an entity In which the group holds a long-term interest and in which the group has the abtlity to exercise joint
control in terms of a contractual arrangement The group’s interest In a jointly controlled entity 15 accounted for by proportionate
consohdation [n terms of this method, the group includes 1ts share of the income and expenses, assets and liabilities, and cash flows
on a line by line basis with similar istems in the group’s financial statements

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements

Use of significant estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting polictes and reported amounts of assets, rabilities, iIncome and expenses Actual results may
differ from these estimates

Esumates and underlying assurnptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Rewsions 10 accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected

Denvation of assumptions used in the esumation of the recoverable values of assets, disclosed 1n note 11 relating to impairment,
requires a significant amount of judgement The assumptions underlying the estimated recoverable values include, amongst others,
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the technical perfarmance, revenue, operating costs and discount rate {for discounted cash flow based valuations), and are based
on management’s best jJudgements at the date of signing the accounts The life of mine periods used for the purpose of calculating
estirnated recoverable values are based on resources and reserves These judgements used by management correspond to realistic
scenanos taking into account the information avallable The impairment note discloses a sensitiwity analysis with regard to the
assumptions which the Board deems most susceptible to vanances against forecast

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting polictes that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes

Note 11 - Impairment

Note 22 - Inventonies

Note 28 - Rehabilitation provisions

Note 29 — Provisions and other payablas

Note 31 - Share-based payments

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group entity are prepared in its functional currency, which is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which that entity operates For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and finanoial
posttron of sach entity are translated into British pounds, which 1s the presentational currency of the group

{a) Reporting foreign currency transactions in functional currency

Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functronal currency {foreign currencies) are iInitially recorded at the rates of exchange

prevailing on the dates of the transactions At each subsequent balance sheet date

* Foreign currency manetary items are re-translated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date Exchange differences ansing on
the settlement or re-translation of monetary rems are recogrised in the iIncome statement,

¢ Non-monetary items measured at histoncal cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated, and

+ Exchange differences ansing on the re-translation of non-monetary 1tems carried at fair value are included In the income statement
except for differences ansing on the re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recogrised in the
other comprehensive income, in which case any exchange component of that gain or loss 1s also recognised directly in equity

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the basis of their jJudgement that the functional currency under 1AS 21 of the
group s Zimbabwean subsidiaries is the US dollar The directors judge that the functional currency of these subsidianies s the US dollar,
based on revenue, caprtal expenditure and the majortty of costs being denominated in US doflars

(b) Translation from functional currency to presentational currency

When the functionaf currency of a group entity 1s different from the group's presentational currency (the British pound), its results,

financial posiion and cash flows are translated into the presentational currency as follows

* Assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date,

*+ Income and expense items are translated at average exchange rates for the year, except where the use of such an average rate does
not approximate the exchange rate at the date of the transaction, in which case the transaction rate 15 used, and

* All resulting exchange differences are recognised in translation reserves as a separate component of equity and are recognised in
the income statement in the penod in which the foreign operation 1s disposed of

* Cash tlows are translated using average exchange rates during the period and the effect of exchange rate changes on the balances
of cash and cash equwvalents 1s presented as part of the reconciliation of movements therein

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment 1s stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment

Depreciation 1s provided to wnite off the cost less the estimated residual value of property, plant and equipment by equal instalments

over the estimated useful economic lives as set out befow

* Mining assets mining assets are depreciated at varying rates on a straight-ine basis over the expected useful lives, which range
from three to 17 years

* Smelter and refinery assets smelter and refinery assets are depreciated at varying rates on a straight ine basis over the expected
useful lives, which range from five to 40 years

¢ Plant and equipment and motor vehicles plant and equipment and motor vehicles are depreciated over therr estimated useful
lives on a straight line basis at the rate of 10% and 20% respectively

* Buildings buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expecied useful Ives, currently 40 years
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Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 cont

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets — exploration and evaluation expenditure

All expenditure directly related to mmeral exploration 15 capitalised on a project-by-project basis, pending the determinaton of the
feasibility of the project Explorauon casts include certain adrunistration and salary costs If a project is ultimately deemed commercially
and technically viable, the related exploration costs remain capitalised whilst the asset is developed, and are then written off over the
life of the estimated ore reserve on a umit-of-production basis If it s determtned that a project 1s not expected to be successful, whether
relinquished, abandoned or uncommercial, the related exploration costs are wntten off

Once a decision 1s made to develop then the related exploration and evatuation costs are transferred from intangible to tangible assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in exploration activities 55 capitalised to intangile exploration and evaluation
assets

fFor the purpose of unparment assessment, capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures are allocated to the cash generating
units on the basis of the exploration field in which the costs have been incurred

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there 1s any indication of
impairment If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 1s estimated

Exploration and evaluation assets are also assessed for impatrment when facts and crcumstances suggest that the carrying amount
of an asset may exceed 115 recoverable amount

An impairment loss is recogrised 10 the extent that the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit {"CGU") exceeds I1ts
recoverable amount The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of (1) 1ts fair value less costs to sell and (i) its value in use,
which 15 the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset or CGU, discounted using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects cutrent market assessments of the tme value of maney and the nsks associated wath the asset or CGU impaiement
Insses are recoegrised In the income statement

Impairment losses recogrised in respect of cash-generating units are aliocated first to reduce the carrng amount of any goodwill
allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit A cash generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely iIndependent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets It usually corresponds to the exploration field or the production umit

When a decline in the farr value of an avallable-forsale financial asset has been recognised directly in equity and there 1s abjective
evidence that the asset 1s impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised dwectly in equity 1s recognised in profit or loss even
though the financal asset has not been de-recogmsed The amount of the cumulative loss that is recogrised in the income staternent 1s
the difference between the acquisiion cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recogrused
in the income statement

The company assesses the value of Its investments in and loans to its subsidianes for impairment

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss In respect of an investment in an equity msirument classified as available-for-sale s not reversed through the
income statement If the far value of a debt instrument classifted as avallable-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurnng after the impairment loss was recogmised in the income statement, the impairment loss 1s reversed
through the Income statement An impairment loss in respect of goodwill 1s not reversed

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss 15 reversed when there 15 an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist
and there has been a ¢hange  the estimates used 1o deterrmine the Tecoverable amount An impairment 1oss 15 reversed only to the
exient that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, If no imparment loss had been recognised Reversals of impairment relating to other assets are recognised in the
income statement
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Investments
The group’s nvestments in equity secunties are recognised initially at cost Subsequent to therr imitral recogrition, they are measured
at fair value and changes therein, including imparment losses, are recogrised through profit or loss

The group holds a 66 7% interest In the Klipspringer diamond mine joint venture, the assets, habilities, ncome and expenses of which
are consolidated on a proportional basis

The company has investments In its various subsidiaries These are accounted for at cost less imparment All inter-group loans are
repayable on demand

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash eguivalents comprise cash on hand and calt deposits with an imitial penod to maturity of no more than three months
Cash reserves held 1n currencies other than the British pound are subject to changes in value resulting from exchange rate fluctuations

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value In deterrmiming the cost of raw matenals, consumables and goods
purchased for resale, the weighted average purchase price 15 used For finished goods and work in progress which includes quantities
of gold in process, cost 1s taken as production cost, which includes an appropnate proportion of attributable overheads Net realisable
value 15 calculated based on market prices prevailing as at the year-end less tosts to self

Available-for-sale financial assets

The group’s Zimbabwean investments m equity securities, which were disposed of during the vear were classified as available-for-sale
financial assets Subsequent to therr inimial recogrition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment
losses, are recognised directly In other comprehensive Income When an (nvestment is de-recogrised, the cumulative gain or loss I
other comprehensive ncome 15 transferred to profit or loss

Loan payable

Loans are recognised initially at far value, net of transaction costs incurred Loans are subsequently carmied at amortised cost, any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 1s recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate

Rehabilitation proviston

A prowision 1s recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and when 1t I1s
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the abligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount of the obligation can be made

Estimated long-term environmental obligations, comprising poilution cantrol, rehabiitation and mine closure, are based on the group's
environmental management plans in compliance with current technology, environmental and regulatory requirements

Oninitial recognition, the net present value of estimated future decommussioning costs are capitalised to property, plant and equipment
and the concomitant prowisions are raised These estimates are reviewed annually and discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the ume value of money Any increases in such revised estimates are capitalised to property, plant and
equipment while decreases in estimates are recogrused by impairing the asset in the income statement in the period 1n which they are
incurred

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the sale of gold, nickel and diamonds net of discounts and taxes Revenue also includes toll refining and processing
of matenal on behalf of, or purchased from, non-group companies Revenue from the sale of gold 15 based on the spot price on the
date of delvery, while revenue from the sale of nickel s based on the iInternational market price of nickel Blamond revenue 1s based
on negotiated prices Revenue 15 only recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the purchaser

Leases
Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownershup of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases Operating
fease rentals are charged 1o the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease

The group has not entered into any finance lease arrangements
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Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 cont

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits

(a} Defined contribution pension scheme

Certain comparves in the group operate defined contribution pension schemes The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the group in Independently administered funds The amounts charged to the income statement represent the contrtbutions
payable to the schemes in respect of the accounting penod

(b) Share-based payments

The share option programmes allow employees to acquire shares of the company The fair value of options granted 1s measured at
grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options The farr value of
the options granted 1s measured using an option-pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted The amount recognised as an expense 15 adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where
variations are due only to share prices not achieving the threshald for vesting

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax

Current tax payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the income
statement because It excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible The group’s liabtlity for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates and laws that have been enacted,
or substantively enacted, by the balance sheset date

Deferred tax I1s recognised on differences between the carrying amounis of assets and llabiltaes in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the balance sheet liability method
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temparary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised Such assets and
habilities are not recogrused if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the iniral recognition {other than in a business
combination) of other assets and habihties in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax habilities are recogrised for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidiaries and interests 1n joint
ventures, except where the group Is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse In the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 15 no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred tax 15 calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penicd when the liability 1s settled or the asset 15 realised,
based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or substantively enacted, by the balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s charged or
credited 10 the income statement, except when 1t relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, n which case the associated
deferred tax 1s also dealt with in eguity

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset only when there 1s a legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets against current
tax habiles and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonity and the group intends to settle its current tax
assets and labilities on a net basis

3. Revised and Amended Standards and Interpretations

The following revised and amended standards and interpretations, which have all been endorsed by the £U, have been adopted by the

group in these consolidated financral statements, their adeption has had no matenal impact on the group's net cash flows, financal

position, total comprehensive income or earnings per share

* IFRS 1 {Rewised), First-ime Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, which is effecuve for accounting penods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009, simplifies the structure of IFRS 1 without making any technical changes

* Amendments to IFRS 2, group Cash-settled Share-based Payments Transactions, which is effective for accounting peniods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010, provides a clear basis to determine the classification of share-based payment awards in both consolidated
and separate financal statements
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IFRS 3 (Rewised), Bustness Combinations, which 1s effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 The standard
continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, but with some significant changes For example, all payments
to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with some contingent payments subsequently
remeasured at fair value through profit or loss, goodwill and non-cantrolling interests may be calculated on a gross or net basis, and
all transaction costs are o be expensed

1AS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, which 15 effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009, requires the effects of all transactions with non-controfling interests where there 15 no change n control to be recorded
in eguity Such transactions will no longer result in goodwilt or gains and losses in the income statement

Amendment to IAS 39, Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement, for Eigible Hedged Items, which 1s effective for
accounting penieds beginning on or after 1 July 2009, clanfies how to apply the pnnciples that determe whether a hedged nisk or
portion of cash flows 15 eligible for designation

IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, which 1s effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2010, standardises accounting practice for the recognition of revenue by real estate developers for sales before
construciion Is complete

IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Cperation, which is effective for accounting penods beginning on or after
1 July 2009, clanfies which currency exposures gqualify for hedge accounting, which ertity within a group <an hold the hedging
mstrument, and how to deterrmine the amounts to be reclassified from equity 1o profit or loss for both the hedging instrument and
the hedged item when an investment in a foreign operation s disposed of

IFRIC 17, Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners, which 15 effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2010, clanfies how an entity should measure distributions of assets, other than cash, when 1t pays dwdends to its owners

IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, which s effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 November 2009,
clarifies the accounting for arrangements where an item of property, plant and equipment prowided by the customer is used to
provide an ongoing service

Standards, Amendments and Interpretations That Are Not Yet Effective

The following new, rewised and amended standards and interpretations have been 1ssued and endorsed by the EU unless otherwise
stipulated, but are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the group 1n these consolidated financral statements None of these
revised and amended standards and interpretations 1s expected 1o have a matenal impact on the group’s net cash flows, financal
position, total cornprehensive income or earnings per share

IFRS 9, Finanaial Instruments, which has not yet been endorsed by the EU and which 15 effective far accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013, 1s the first part of a new standard on classification and measurement of financial assets that will replace
1AS 39

1AS 24 (Rewised), Related Party Disclosures, which has been endorsed by the EU and which s effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011, removes the requirement for government related entities to disclose details of transactions
with the government and other government related entiies and clanfies and simplifies the definrtion of a related party
Amendment fo 1S 32, Finanaal Instruments Presentation, which has been endorsed by the EU and which 1s effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010, addresses the accounting for nghts issues that are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the issuer

Amendment to IFRIC 14, 1AS 19 = The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minmurm Funding Requirements and Their Interaction,
entitfed Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement, whech has been endorsed by the EU and which s effective for accounting
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2011, applhes to companies that are required to make mimmum funding contrbutons to
a defined benefit pension plan

IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial LiabMities with Equity Instruments, which has been endorsed by the EU and which 1s effecuve for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010, clanfies the accounting treatment for equity instruments that are used to
extinguish financial habilities

Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, (a) Limited Exemption from Comparative
IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters, which has been endorsed by the EU and which is effective for accounting penods beginning
on or after 1 July 2010, ensures that first-time adopters of IFRS benefit from the same transition provistons that amendments to
IFRS 7 prowide to current IFRS preparers, and (b) Severe Hypennflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters, which has
not yet been endorsed by the EU and which 1s effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011, prowrdes rehef for
first-time adopters of (FRS from having to reconstruct transactions that occurred before thew date of transiion to IFRS and provides
guidance for entities emerging from severe hypeninflation
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3. Revised and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued)

* Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments Disclosures, which has not yet been endarsed by the EU and which 1s effective for
accounting peniods beginning on or after 1 July 2011, enhances the reporting of transfers of finanaal assets

* Amendments to I1AS 12, Income Taxes, Deferred tax Recovery of Underlying Assets, which has not yet been endorsed by the EU
and which s effective for accounting penods beginning on or after 1 January 2012, provides a practical approach for measuring
deferred tax assets and habitities when investment properties are measured at farr value

4. Financial risk management

Overview

The group has exposure to the following nsks in relation to its operating and financial actvities
s credit risk,

¢ lquidity nsk,

* market sk, and

* currency nsk

This note presents information abaut the group s exposure to each of the above nsks, the group’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing rs, and the group’s management of capital Further quantitative disclosures are included within note 32

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s nsk management framework
The substdiaries report regularly to the Board of directors on their activities and their nsk management procedures

The group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the group’s risk management policies and
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework 1n relation to the nsks faced by the group

Credit risk
Credit nisk 1s the risk of financial loss to the group 1f a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
cbligations, and arises principally from the group s recevables from customers

The company’s cash balances are held in investments and with institutions considered by the directors to have a low risk of default
The group’s policy on credit sk +s to seek, to the extent possible, to deal with customers with a strong financial position, and to ensure
that approprtate measures are taken to reduce the level of counterparty credit nsk Such measures may include limiting shipments
of matenal while balances are outstanding, requesting the use of bank andfor corporate guarantees, and, where appropniate, retention
of amounts owed by the group to its counterparties by way of offset against amounts owed to the group The group’s pnnapal
customer 1s the Zimbabwe Chamber of Mines who purchase gold production from Freda Rebecca

Liguidity risk

Liguidity nisk 1s the nisk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obhigations as they fall due and 15 measured by reference
to cash levels and forecasted cash flows The group’'s approach to managing higuidity 1s to seek to ensure, as far as possible, that it wili
have sufficent iquidity to meet 1ts labilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurnng unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the group's reputation The group monitors its current and forecasted cash and cash equivalents positions
to ensure that it will be able to meet its financial commitments

BNC's cash position detenorated during the period since it has remained on care and maintenance BNC was not able to settle creditors
and is reliant on continuing creditor deferral to avoid iquidation BNC has mitiated discussions to reach settlement with 1ts credtors
In due course

Market risk

Market risk 15 the nsk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and commodity prices will affect the group’s
income The group’s earnings are exposed to movements in the prices of gold, mickel, and diamonds that it produces The group 1s
also exposed to movements in interest rates on cash and cash equivalents as well as the risk related to market pnice of the investments
held The objective of market risk management 1s to manage and control market nsk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return The group's policy 1s not to hedge commaodity price nisk Consequently, as at 31 March 2011 and dunng the year,
the group did not have any long-term commedity price hedges in place
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Currency risk

The group operates internationzlly and 15 exposed to foreign exchange nsk ansing from transactions and investments that are
denominated in currencies other than the British pound, including the Uruted States dollar and the South African rand Such risks
include the effect of movements in exchange rates on the group's forecasts of capital and operating expenditure, and on the group's
forecasts of revenue The group’s policy 1s not to hedge currency nsk Consequently, as at 31 March 2010 and during the year, the
group did not have any currency hedges in place

Capital management
The group considers (ts capital to be equal to the sum of its total equity The Board 1s committed to mantaining a capitat base that
maintains creditors’ confidence in Mwana’s ability to meet 1ts commitments

The company’s primary objectives when managing its capital are

« to ensure that the company I1s able to operate as a going concern,

* to have available both the necessary financial resources and the appropriate equity to aliow the company to make investments
including, where necessary, further invesiment 1n exisuing subsidianes, that will deliver acceptable future returns to the company's
shareholders, and

« to maintain sufficient financial resources 1o mitigate against nsks and unforeseen events

The Board of directors monitors the return on capital using a number of metrics, including return on net assets and return on
investment There were no changes 1n the company’s approach to capital management in the year Neither the company nor any of its
subsidianies are subject to externally imposed capital requirements

5. Segmental information

The group has four reportable segments, as described below, which are the group’s strategic business units

The strategic bustness units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different technology
and marketing strategies The CEC reviews internal management reports for each of the strategic business units The following
summary describes the operations in each of the group’s reportable segments

+ Gold Gold mining and prospecting activities

* Nickel Nickel mining, smelting and refining activities currently on care and maintenance

* Diamonds Diamond mining activities currently on care and maintenance

+ Exploration Gold and base metal exploration actmties

Information about reportable segments - Operations

Gold Nickel Diamonds Exploration Total

{Freda Rebecca) (Bindura Nickel (Klipspringer
Corporation) diamond mine)

201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £°000

External revenue 23,279 5,979 2648 11,796 1,340 1,005 - - 27,267 18,780
Reportable segment profit/
{loss) before tax 14,353  (3,699) (10,863) (4,887) (748) (761) (813) 2,472 1,929 (6,875)

Reportable segment assets 34,327 16,647 29,540 38,306 1,360 1,742 21,199 15070 86,426 71,765
Reportable additions to

property, plant and equipment 2,555 2,210 1.414 (261) 16 - - - 3,985 1,949
Reportable additions to
Intangible assets - - - - - - 7,652 4047 7,652 4,047
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5. Segmental information (continued)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss

201 2010
€000 £'000
Total profit/(Joss) for reportable segments 1,929 {6,875)
Unallocated amounts
Other corporate expenses (5.730} (7.501)
Consolidated loss before income tax (3.801) {14,376)

Information about reportable segments — Geographical
South Africa and Democratic
Zimbabwe Republic of the
Congo Ghana Urnited Kingdom Total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 201 2010 20Mm 2010

£000 £000 €000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 €000
External revenue 27,267 18,780 - - - - -~ - 27,267 18,780
Reportable segment profit/
{loss) before tax 1,613 (10,097} (287) 1,922 358 (1,132) (5.485) (5,069) (3.801) (14,376}
Reportable segment assets 65,988 57,618 21,110 14,3854 1,139 1,025 2,704 11,022 90941 84519
Reportable additions o

property, plant and equipment 3,991 1,956 - - - - 4 72 3,995 2,028
Reportable additions to
intangible assets - - 7,652 4,047 - - - - 7.652 4,047

Freda Rebecca sells ts gold production to the Zimbabwean Chamber of Mines The main products at BNC duning the year related to
nickel and the major customers were well-established commodities traders

6. Loss from joint venture

Included in the group income statement are the following amounts relating to the Kiipspringer diamond mine joint venture

2011 2010

£'000 £°000
Revenue 1,340 1,005
Cost of sales (2,035) {1,272}
Gross loss (695) (267)
Other income 37 -
Selling and distribution ¢osts (39 -
Administrative costs (663) {748)
Loss from operating activities {1.360) {1,015)
Finance income 686 84
Loss before tax (674) (931

The group holds a 66 7% interest (2010 65%) 1n the Khipspringer diamond nuine joint venture The mine 1s situated in South Africa’s
Limpopo Province Mwana Africa 15 currently the sole funder of the operation and the joint venture partners interest 1s being diluted
In accordance with the contractual agreement
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7. Analysis of loss from operating activities

Loss from operating activities 1s stated after charging

20M 2010

£000 £000
Cost of goods sofd 17,112 8,669
Depreciation 1,265 1,192
Write-off of nventary 65 -
Cost of sales 18,442 9,861
Cther income items 698 177
Profit on sale of available-for-sate financial assets 996 551
Fair value adjustments on investments 294 -
Other income 1,988 728
Operations {technical} 6.883 4,792
Exploration 526 448
Administrative expenses 7,409 5,240
Loss on assets held for sale - 1,036
Write-off of capitalised exploration costs 37 281
Prowiston fer closure costs - 2,933
Other expenses 37 4,250

The presentation of the operating expenses in the income statement has been ¢hanged in the year ended 31 March 2011 1n order to
present a more detailed analysis of the costs of the group

The presentation of the expenses previously classified as cost of sales of BNC has been changed In the income statement These
are presented as care and mantenance expenses in the operational profit{loss) section As a conseguence expenses of £9 4 million
presented as cost of sales in 2010 have been reclassified to care and maintenance expenses in the comparative information

In the previous years, certain expenses allocated to techrucal actvities were disclosed as part of cost of sales as 1t was the view of the
group that these expenses were by nature linked to the operational actvity of BNC and Freda Rebecca It has been decided to reclassify
these costs under separate administration cost categories as part of the operational profitloss) As a consequence the presentation
of the comparative balances have been changed by £39 mihon classified as cost of sales in 2010 and now reclassified into
admtnistrative Costs

Deprectation on property, plant and equipment capitalised as intangible assets is not inciuded n the above analysis

8. Amounts payable to KPMG

2011 2010

£'000 £'000
Audit of these financizl statements 136 125
Audit of inancal statements of substdiaries pursuant to legislation 113 15
Other services pursuant to such legislation - 2
Qther services relating (o taxation 4 2
Services relating to corporate finance transactions 30 44
All other services 15 25
Total Auditors’ remuneration 298 309
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9. Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management personnel are people responsible for the direction of the business, and comprise the executive and non executive
directors of Mwana Africa PLC The remuneration of key management personnel 15 set out below in aggregate for each of the
categores as specified in IAS 24 9

Short-term Post-
employee Annual employment  Share-based

benefits bonus benefits payments Total
Director £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
2011
KK Mpinga 310 - 57 30 397
QAG Baring . 220 - 75 19 3
DAR McAlister 240 - 34 22 296
PE Sydney-Smith - - - - -
KC Owen - - - - -
SG Morns 40 - - - 40
JA Anderson i3 - - - 33
E Denis 20 - - - 20
Total remuneration 863 - 166 7" 1,100
2010
KK Mpinga 275 193 56 55 579
QAG Barning 200 140 a7 53 440
DAR McAlister 120 60 15 7 202
PE Sydney-Srmith 208 - - (249} (XY
KC Owen 105 - 13 17 135
5G Morris 40 - - - 40
JA Anderson 20 - - - 20
E Denis 20 - - - 20
Total remuneration 238 393 131 (117) 1,395
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10. Employee benefits expense

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Wages and salanes 12,213 6,435 1,076 1,256
Increase In provision 3,993 - - -
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 139 262 91 287
(see note 31}
Compulsory social secunty ¢ontnbutions 385 359 104 145
Contributions to defined contribution plans 177 152 119 91
Total employee benefits expense 17,107 7,208 1,390 1,779

Staff numbers
Number of employees

Group
2011 2010
£000 £000
Management and administration 276 322
Operatives 2,715 2,660
Total 2,991 2,982

Ouring the year, increases In minimum wage rates in Zmbabwe were legislated These increases which mainly impact BNC were applied
retrospectively resulting in an increase in the current years expense The wages and salaries expense for Freda Rebecca increased by
£3 4 mithon as the mine was operational for the full year
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11. Impairment

The group s assets, and the impairment charges and reversals recognised In the period, have been allocated to cash-generating units

as set out in the table below

Cash Generating Units

Freda Khp-  Diamond Gold Base metal
Rehecca BNC springer exploration exploratton exploration
£:000 £000 £000 £:000 £'000 £000
2010
Carrying values
Recoverable valye of assets allocated to the
cash generating units as at 1 Apnl 2009 8,161 21,487 333 362 7,000 3,000
Effect of movements in exchange rates (465) (1,223) 80 (21) {398} {171)
Assets realised duning the year - - - {341) {1,886) -

Other movements during the year 5,493 1,285 (107} - 2,216 2,219

Total carrying values of assets
allocated to the cash generating units

as at 31 March 2010 13,189 21,549 306 - 6,932 5,048
Imparrment loss

Intangible exploration assets - - - - - (2.395)
Impairment reversal

ntangible exploration assets - - - - 4,073 -

Total impairment reversal/(loss) of

assets allocated to the cash generating

units for the year ended 31 March 2010 - - - - 4,073 (2,395)
Recoverable value of assets allocated

to the cash generating units as at

31 March 2010 13,189 21,549 306 - 11,005 2,653

2011

Carrying values

Recoverable value of assets allocated to the

cash generating units as at 1 Apnl 2010 13,189 21,549 306 - 11.005 2,653
Effect of movements in exchange rates (791) (1,292) 5 - (660) (159)
Other movements dunng the year 639 1,204 (65) - 4,767 2,693

Total carrying values of assets
allocated to the cash generating unit

as at 31 March 2011 13,037 21,461 246 - 15,112 5.187
Impatrment reversal
Property, plant and equipment 11,743 - - - = ~

Total impairment reversal of assets
allocated to the cash generating units
for the year ended 31 March 2011 11,743 - - - - -

Recoverable value of assets allocated
to the cash generating units as at
31 March 2011 24,780 21,461 246 - 15,112 5,187
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Group Company

201 2010 2011 2010

€000 £000 £000 £'000
Impairment losses
Exploration and development assets - (2,395 - -
Trade and other recewables - - - (2,332)
Impawment loss for the year - (2,395) - (2,332)
Impairment reversals
Property, ptant and equipment 11,743 - - -
Exploration and development assets - 4,073 - -
Non-current investments - - 35,981 -
Impairment reversal of trade and other receivables - - - 4,331
Impairment reversal for the year 11.743 4,073 35,981 4,331
Net impairment reversal for the year 11,743 1,678 35,981 1,999

All impatrment charges and reversals have been booked to the income statement in 2011 and 2010

The Board has assessed the carrying values of the groups intangible exploration assets, property, plant and equipment and eguity
investments for impairment as at 31 March 2011 In addition, the company's investments 1n, and foans to subsidianies have been
assessed for impairment as at 31 March 2011

As a result of these assessments, the impairment charges recognised In previous years to reduce the carrying value of property, plant
and equipment of Freda Rebecca have been reversed Impairment charges recognised in previous years to reduce the carrying value of
the company’s investment in Mwana Africa Holdings (Pty} Ltd has also been reversed

Freda Rebecca

In September 2010, Freda Rebecca exceeded its targeted Phase | monthly production rate of 2,5000z The consistent achievement
of this targeted production rate since September 2010 has resulted in the operations at Freda Rebecca being considered as having
achieved steady state during the year The achievement of steady state has prompted a review of the assets for potential reversal of
impairments recogrused in previous years A value in use of US$66 million (£41 mulion) has been calculated as a present value of future
cash flows on the basis of the annual production rate of 50,0000z, the operations Phase [l target

Gold Exploration Assets

Mwana Africa owns gold exploration prospects in the DRC with currently defined resources totalling 1,253,7660z (2010 638,2900z)
A 96 4% ncrease in resource ounces combined with a stable outlook on the pnice of gold indicate a recoverable value exceeding the
carrying value of the assets Conseguently, no further impairment is considered necessary

Base Metal Exploration Assets

Mwana Africa holds exploration concessions in the Katanga province of the DRC As at 31 March 2011, expenditure of
£18 7 milhon (2010 £17 9 milkon) had been incurred on exploration at the concessions Management estimated a recoverable value
of £5 2 mithon on the basis of its fair value less costs to sell Following imparment of £13 5 million recorded n prewvious years, no
further iImpairment charge Is necessary

Company - Investments

The value of investments in subsichary companies has been adjusted as a result of the impairment reversal of Freda Rebecca’s assets
Investments 1n substdiary companies were impaired by £36 milhion in previous years as a result of the operations of Bindura Nickel
Corporation Limited and Freda Rebecca being on care and maintenance Achievement of steady state production by Freda Rebecca
dunng the year has resulted in an increase in the carrying value of the investment, and consequently, a reversal of the imparrments
recognised In previous years
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11. Impairment (continued)

The directors have assessed the carrying vafue of the group’s investrnent in BNC in light of the need to raise funds for the planned
restart of the Trojan mine and the Zimbabwe Government's recent indrgenisation proposals as set out in more detat in note 2 Basis
of preparation going concern’ Given the directors are confident that appropriate funding will be secured for the restart and the
indigerusation requirements will be met without significant impact on the group's interest in BNC, no further imparrments are

considered necessary as at 31 March 2011

12. Net finance income and costs

Group Company

201 20170 2011 2010

£'000 £000 £°000 £'000
Interest ncome on bank deposits 87 53 25 37
Investments - 81 - -
Finance income 87 134 25 37
Interest costs (555) {428} - -
Foreign exchange differences (1.358) - - -
Finance costs {1,913} (428) - -
13. Income tax expense

2011 2010
£'000 £'000

Current tax expense
Current year tax - 3
Prior periods tax 132 28
Deferred tax expense
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences 3,916 (770}
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses (688) 553
Effect of change in tax rate - 253
Total income tax expense 3,360 67
Reconciiation of effective tax rate
Loss before income tax (3.801) (14,376)
Income tax wsing the company’s domestic tax rate — 28% (2010 28%) 1,064 4,025
Effect of tax rates in foreign junsdictions (501) (714)
Neon-deductible expenses (776) (1,183)
Prior year current tax (124) 28
Prior year deferred tax 869 (980)
Utihsed tax losses brought forward (704) 553
Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised (3,636) (3,818)
Other temporary differences not recognised 448 2,022
Total tax expense as per conselidated income statement (3,360) [(2Y))]

Deferred taxation impacts are described more fully in note 19

Significant factors affecting the tax charge relate to the taxation regimes for the mining sector in the UK, Zmbabwe, South Africa and
the DRC Changes in any of these areas could, adversely or positively impact the group’s tax charge in the future
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14. Dividends

No dividends were dedared durning the 2011 financial year (2010 il

15. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) s computed by dividing the profit or loss after taxation for the year avallable to ordinary shareholders by

the sum of the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue ranking for dividend during the year

Diluted earnings per share 1s computed by dviding the profit or loss zfter taxation for the year avallable to ordinary shareholders by the
sum of the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue, adjusted for the effect of all dilutve potential ordinary shares that

were outstanding during the year

2011 2010
£000 £'000
Earnings
Loss attrtbutable to ordinary shareholders (2,148) (14,520)
Number Number
Weighted average number of shares
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 400,433,819 385,707,792
Effect of shares issued 107,522,670 14,726,027
Weighted average shares at the end of the year 507,956,489 400,433,819
Basic loss per share (0 42p) (3 63p)
(0 42p) (3 63p)

Diluted loss per share

No dilutive effect I1s recognised for the 2011 financial year as the dilutive potential ordinary shares would reduce the loss per share
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16. Property, plant and equipment

Smelter and
refinery
Mintng plantand Plant and Exploration Buwlding & Motor

assets equipment equipment assets leasehold vehicles Total

£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Cost or deemed cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 68,797 23817 2,032 2,713 22,265 9,633 129,257
Additions 1,787 162 61 - - 18 2,028 |
Addions of environmental assets 5,402 - - - - - 5,402 '
Disposals (14 - (12} - - (14 (40}
Effect of movements in
exchange rates (3,708) {1.451) 41 {125) {1,268) (547) (7.056)
Balance at 31 March 2010 72,266 22,528 2,122 2,588 20,997 9,090 129,591
Additions 3,969 - 26 - - - 3,995
Additions of environmentai assets 24 - - - - - 24
Write down of environmental
assets recognised previgusly (906} - - - - - {906}
Disposals 72) - - - - - (72)
Effect of movements in
exchange rates (4,448) (1,350) (68) (145} (1,259) (545) (7.815)
Balance at 31 March 2011 70,833 21,178 2,080 2,443 19,738 8,545 124,817 ‘
Depreciation and \
impairment losses \
Balance at 1 April 2009 (51,774} (14,181) (1,618} (2,711} (19,085) (9,500) (98,869)
Depreciation for the year (1,006) - (162) - - (24) (1,192}
Disposals 3 - 7 - - 3 i3
Effect of movements in
exchange rates 3,302 8i0 416 123 1,086 541 5,908
Balance at 31 March 2010 (49,475) {13,371) (1,727 (2,588) {17,999} (8,980) {94,140)
Impairment reversal 11,743 - - - - - 11,743
Depreciation for the year {1,124) - (118) - - (23) {1,265)
Disposals 41 - - - - - 4
Effect of movements in
exchange rates 2,998 802 73 145 1,079 539 5,636
Balance at 31 March 2011 (35,817) (12,569) {1,772) {2.443} (16,920) (8,464) (77.,985)
Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2009 17,023 9,636 414 2 3,180 133 30,388
At 31 March 2010 22,791 9,157 395 - 2,998 110 35,451
At 31 March 2011 35,016 8,609 308 - 2,818 81 46,832

Depreciation on exploration assets was capitalised to intangible assets
The net book value of the company's property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2011 amounted to £66,811 (2010 £92,187)

Depreciation charged to the income statement of the company during the year amounted to £28,772 {2010 £18,749) and capital
expenditure for the year to £3,395 (2010 £53,874)
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17. Intangible assets

Cost or deemed cost

Balance at 1 Aprl 2009

Capitalised exploration costs
Capralised depreciation

Effect of movements in exchange rates
Balance at 31 March 2010

Capitalised exploration costs
Capralised depreciation

effect of movements m exchange rates
Balance at 31 March 2011

Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 Aprif 2009

impairment reversal

Impairment loss

Effect of movements in exchange rates
Balance at 31 March 2010

Effect of movements in exchange rates
Balance at 31 March 2011

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2009
At 31 March 2010
At 31 March 2011

Exploration
and
Development evaluation
Goodwill assets assets Total
£'000 £000 £000 £'000
34,782 5,783 113,836 154,401
- - 4,047 4,047
- - 141 141
- - 1198 119
34,782 5,783 118,143 158.708
- - 7,652 7,652
- - 33 33
- - {1,887) {1,887)
34,782 5,783 123,941 164,506
(34,782) (5.783) (105,836) {146,401)
- - 4,073 4,073
- - (2,395) (2,395)
- - (326) (326)
(34,782) (5,783} (104,484) (145,049)
- - 842 842
(34,782) {5.783) {103,642) (144,207)
- - 8,000 8,000
~ - 13,658 13,659
- - 20,299 20,299

The carrying amount of the intangible assets relates 1o capitabsed exploration on the SEMHKAT and Zani-Kodo exploration projects
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18. Investments

Group
Ownership 2011 2010
% £000 £'000
Mantle Diamonds Ltd 1031 1,025 1,000
Signature Metals Ltd 535 997 702
Others 494 374
Total investments 2,516 2,076

Shares In Signature Metals Ltd were sold subsequent to the year-end for a total consideration of £742,751

The group has ather investments which include a 20% interest in Société Mintére de Bakwanga (MIBA) in the DRC, an 18% Interest
in the Camafuca project in Angola, and a 55% interest in the BK16 project in Botswana which will be reduced to 12 5% in terms of
an agreement with Firestone Diamonds, once a bankable feasibility study has been completed These investments are carried at £nil
value 2010 £nil}

The directors consider that the group does not have significant influence over the entities classified as investments, as It cannot
influence the operating policy of these entities

The group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks refated to other invesiments is disclosed in note 32

Company
Shares in Shares In
non-group group
undertakings  undertakings Total
£000 £000 £°000
Cost
At beginning of year 1,000 9,602 10,602
Acquisition of investments 25 - 25
Disposal of investments - (192) (192)
Share-based payments to subsidiary employees - 19 19
Reversal of impairment - 35,981 35,981
At end of year 1,025 45,410 46,435
Net book value
At 31 March 2009 - 9,627 9,627
At 31 March 2010 1,000 9,602 10,602
At 31 March 2011 1,025 45,410 46,435

The carmng value of the investment in Mwana Africa Holdings (Pty) Ltd amounted to £44,618,315 as at 31 March 2011

An impairment reversal of £35,980,887 has been recorded during the period against this investment Mwana Africa Holdings (Pty)
Ltd, which 15 a subsidiary of the company, 1s the holding company of the group's Zimbabwean operations The recoverable value of
this investment exceeds 115 carrying value as a result of the increase in the expected return in the investment relaung to the Freda
Rebecca mine, requinng a full reversal of previous impairments Recent developments In the Zimbabwe indigenisation legislation,
which are explatned in more detail in the Directors’ report on page 22, may have an impact on the recoverable value of the investment
In Mwana Africa Holdings (Pty) Ltd The impact cannot be reliably measured as there are uncertainties regarding the implementation
of this legislation and the directors consider there 1s a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt over the carrying value
of the investment These financal statements do not include any adjustments that would result from the impact of the Zimbabwe
indigenisation legislation on the carrying value of the investment held by the company

In addition to the company’s investmenis i shares in group undertakings, loans to group undertakings totaling £35,153,734 (2010
£27,126,976) are included In trade and other recewvables within note 23
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The major subsidiaries in which the group s Interest at the year end s more than 20% are as follaws

Subsidiary undertakings
Alpinore Limited

SEMHKAT SPRL*

Bindura Nickel Corparation Limited
Trojan Nickel Mine Limited

Freda Rebecca Gold Mine Limited
Mwana Africa Holdings Limited
Mwana Africa Holdings
(Proprietary) Limited*

Basilik Trading (Proprietary} Limited
Sibeka SA*

Mwana Afnca Congo Gold SPRL'
Dramond Meines Australia
(Proprietary) Limited

SouthernEra Diamonds Inc
SouthernEra International Limited

SouthernEra Management Services
South Afnica (Proprietary} Limited
Southerntra RDCT

Country

Ghana

Democratic Republic of Congo
Zimbabwe

Zimbabwe

Zimbabwe

Maurntius

South Afnica

South Africa

Belgium

Democratic Republic of Congo

Australia
Canada
Cayman Islands

South Africa
Demacratic Republic of Congo

= Companies in which Mwana Africa PLC has a direct holding

t The year-end of these subsidiaries 1s 31 Detcember as required by DRC legisiation and appropriate adjustrnents were made (0 recognise movements to

Activity

Mining and exploration of gold
Base metal exploration
Holding company

Nickel mining

Gold mining

Holding company

Holding company
Management services
Holding company
Exploration of goid

Diamond exploration
Diamond exploration
Holding company

Management services
Diamond exploration

31 March to bring the reporting date of these entities in ine with the group s financial year-end

The group holds a 66 7% interest (2010 65%} in the Klipspringer diamond mine joint venture sttwated in South Africa’s Lmpopo
Province Information regarding the loss from the joint venture has been disclosed in accordance wath IAS31 Interests in Joint Ventures

and can be found in note 6 The group had no other matenal interest 1n an associate or joint venture

Percentage of
shares held by
group

100

100

529

529

100

100

100
100
100
100

100
100
100

100
100
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19. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Net deferred tax liability at beginning of year
Charge to the income statement

Exchange rate adustment

Net deferred tax at end of the year

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabiities

The elements of deferred taxation are as follows

Difference between accumulated depreciation and amortisation and capital allowances

Unutihised losses
Other timing differences

2011 2010
£'000 £'000

669 670

3,228 36

(134) (36)

3,763 670

(1,575) -

[ 5,338 670
10,255 8,919

(4.063) (5,091)

(2.429) (3,158

3,763 670

The deferred tax habilty represents the difference between the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and the corresponding
tax bases on those assets The deferred tax hability principally relates 1o Freda Rebecca

Unrecognised deferred taxes

Deferred taxes have not been recognised in respect of the following items

Difference between accumulated depreciation and amortisation and capital allowances

Tax losses
Other timing differences

2011 2010
£000 £°000
930 74
15,546 24,053
370 425
16,846 24,552

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised 1n respect of these items because 1t 1s not probable that future taxable profit will be

available against which the group can utilise the benefits

Recognised deferred tax assets and habilities
Deferred tax assets and habilities are attrnibutable to the following

Asset Liabihty Net

2011 2010 201 2010 2011 2010

£000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Property, plant and equipment - - (10,255) (8,919 (10.255) (8,919)
Mine rehabilitaton provision 652 - 1.976 3,353 2,628 3,353
Tax loss 882 - 3,181 5,091 4,063 5,091
Qthers 41 - {240) (195) (199) (195)
Total 1,575 - (5.338) {670) (3.763) (670)
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20. Non-current receivables

Group Company
20Mm 2010 201 2010
£000 £000 £'000 £:000
Loans and other receivables 19 139 - -
Environmental investrent 929 866 - -
948 1,005 - -

21. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
201 2010 2011 010
£'000 £000 £'000 £°000
Cash at bank and on hand 4,592 6,300 1,279 -
Call deposits - 8,856 - 8,856
Cash and cash equivalents 4,592 15,156 1,279 8,856

Net cash and cash equivalents were represented by the following major currencies

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Austrahian dollar - 272 - -
Brtish pound 352 7,330 352 7,330
Euro 5 5 - -
South African rand 369 244 34 -
Untted States dollar 3,866 7,305 893 1,526
Net cash and cash equivalents 4,592 15,156 1,279 8.856

£69,027 (2010 £67,946) represents restnicted cash and 1s being held by various institutions as guarantees

The group's exposure to Interest rate risks and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and llabihities s disclosed In note 32

22. Inventories

2011 2010
£000 £°000
Raw matenals and consumables 4,159 3,544
Work i progress 265 -
Finished goods 173 130
4,597 3,674

During the year, raw matenals, consumables and changes in fimshed goods and work 1n progress recognised as cost of sates amounted
10 £10,422,100 (2010 £21,471,968), with raw matenials written down by £64,905 (2010 ni) to net realisable values
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23. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Trade recevables 2,785 3,751 - -
Recewvables from group undertakings - - 35,154 27,127
Loans and other recevables 5,987 7,347 2,220 2,878
Pre-payments 719 1,042 98 108
Tax recevable 91 57 - -
9,582 12,197 37.472 30,113

All current trade and other receivables are due within 12 months of the financial year-end Recewvables from group undertakings are
due and payable on demand

Of the £35,153,734 (2010 £27,126,923) above being recevabte from group undertakings, £201,437 (2010 £81,831} 1s due from
BNC and £7,970,231 (2010 £8,704,958}1s due from Freda Rebecca The directars nave considered the recoverability of these amounts
in hight of the cash resources at BNC and the need for financing for the restart of Trojan and the uncertainty around the potential
impact of the Zimbabwe indigenisation law on both BNC and Freda Rebecca The directors are sausfied that these amounts are due
and will be receved

The group s exposure to credit and currency nsks and impairment losses related to trade and other recevables 15 disclosed further in
note 32

24. Available-for-sale financial assets

2011 2010
£000 £'000
Equity investments - 2,250

Investments in shares on the Zimbabwean Stock Exchange were made In prewious years to preserve the value of Zimbabwean dollar
surpluses held by Bindura Nickel Corporation Limited These investments were all disposed of during the year for a profit of £1 Om,
and the proceeds of £1 8 million used to fund ongoing care and maintenance costs

25. Assets held for sale

201 2010
£000 £'600
Capitalised exploratton costs - 108

Exploration interests valued at US$227,334 (2010 US$162,147) were transferred to investments following completion of conditions
precedent relating to the agreement of a sale
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26. Issued share capital

Number of shares Nominal value of shares
2011 2010 2011 2010
£°000 £000
Authorised
Ordinary shares of 10 pence each Unlimited 65,000,000 Unhmited 65,000
Allotted, called up and fully pad
Opening balance 488,774,359 400,433,819 48,877 40,043
tssued duning the year 46,367,401 88,340,540 4,637 8,834
Closing balance 535,141,760 488,774,359 53,514 48,877

During the year the company 1s5ued 46,367,401 ordinary 10 pence shares for 11 pence per share (2010 88,340,540 ordinary 10 pence
shares for 10 pence per share) raising total consideration of £5,100,414 (2010 £8,834,054)

Na shares were 1ssued but not fully paid as at 31 March 2011 (2010 nul)

27. Loan payable

2011 2010
£000 £'000
Total hability 2,368 -
Current portion (included in note 29, provisions and other payables) (449) -
Long-term portion 1.919 -

Freda Rebecca has drawn down US$4 milhon (£2 5 million} of a US$10 million IDC loan facility for its Phase | capital project
An additional amount of US$6 million (£3 7 million) which relates to the Phase Il project remains undrawn due to unfulfilled conditions
precedent This portion will be drawn down ance conditions have been satisfied The toan is secured by a mortgage bend registered
over moveable and immovable assets of Freda Rebecca Gold Mine

28. Rehabilitation provisions

201 2010

£000 £'000
Balance at beginning of the year 13,954 5,580
Exchange rate adjustments (770) (22}
Provisions made during the year 52 8,396
Provisions reversed dunng the year (2.157) -
Unwinding of discount 122 -~
Balance at end of the year 11,201 13,954

The rehabilitation prowision relates principally to the esttmated closure and rehabiiation costs of the business operations of BNC,
Freda Rebecca, and the Khpspringer diamond mine joint venture
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29. Provisions and other payables

Provisions at Effect of
beginning of movements in Additional  Provisions at
year exchange rates provisions end of year
£000 £000 £'000 £'000
2011
Legal provision 819 (49) 1,232 2,002
Cther provistons 423 (22) 3,875 4,276
Provisions 1,242 (71) 5,107 6,278
Other payables and accrued expenses 13,291
Current portion of non-current loan payable a9
Total provisions and other payables 20,018
2010
Legal provision 120 (28) 727 819
Other provisions 378 (22) 67 423
Provisions 498 (50) 794 1,242
Other payables and accrued expenses 12,036
Total provisions and other payables 13,278

The company s other payables and accrued expenses as at 31 March 2011 amounted to £1,284,837 (2010 £1,052,928)

30. Pension scheme
Group

Certain of the group’s Zimbabwean subsidianes contnbute towards defined contrnbution plans, details of which are provided below

Mining Industry Pension Fund
The Mining Industry Pension Fund Is a defined contribution plan The group's obligations under the scheme are imited to 5% of
pensionable emotuments for lower grade employees and 10% for higher grade employees

Others
The group contnbutes towards personal pension schemes of certain of 1ts employees, including certain directors in the United Kingdom

The pension charge for the year represents contributions payable by the group 10 the vanous schemes and amounted to £177,264
(2010 £151,695)

There were no un-accrued or pre-paid contnbutions at either the beginning or end of the financial year

Company
The company does not operate any pension schemes, but does make contributions towards personal pension schemes of its employees,
including certain directors

The pension charge for the year represents contributions payable by the company to the personal pension schemes and amounted to
£119,003 (2010 £90,775)

There were no un-accrued or pre-paid contributions at erther the beginning or end of the financial year
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31. Share-based payments

Share aptions - employees

The company has outstanding options under an unapproved share option scheme adopted in 1997 which expired 1n September 2007
{the 1997 Scheme) and a new scheme which was approved by shareholders at the company’s annual general meeting on 31 July 2007
({the 2007 Scheme)

1997 Scheme

The company has operated this scheme since 1997 where options were granted to any employee, officer or director of the company
or any subsidiary of the company The linit for options granted under this scherne was not to exceed 15% of the number of 1ssued
ordinary shares fram time to time

The Board granted options at its discretton  The subscription price was fixed by the Board at the price per share on the dealing day
preceding the date of grant

For the directors, these options vest immediately and may be exerased at any time within a seven-year penod from the date of the
grant, unless the Board determines otherwise The optrons lapse if not exercised by the seventh anniversary of the grant

For the employees, there 15 3 vesting penod of one to three years from the date of grant Once vested, the options may be exercised
at any tme within a seven-year period from date of grant, unless the Board determines otherwise The optrons lapse If not exercised
by the seventh anniversary of the grant

The nght 10 exercise an option terminates on the holder ceasing to be a parhicipant, subject to certan exceptions, which broadly apply
in the event of death of the option holder or where the option holder ceases to be a participant due to retirement, Ill health, accident
or redundancy In such a case, the option may be exercised within six months of such event prowvided such exercrse will take place within
seven years of the ornginal date of grant

2007 Scheme
The 2007 Scheme allows for both tax approved options {approved options) to be made te employees resident in the United Kingdom
and unapproved options {unapproved options}, which can be made to both resident and non-resident employees

The company has operated this scheme since December 2007 where options may be granted to full-time employees and directors
of the company or any subsichary of the company The overall imit for options granted under this scheme and any other employees’
share scheme adopted by the company s, in any rolling ten-year period, 10% of the 1ssued ordinary share capital {including treasury
shares) of the company for the time being plus 8,100,000 ordinary shares There s an indwdual hmit of ordinary shares to a maximum
of £30,000 in value in respect of approved options

Options may be granted when the Remuneration Committee determines, within 42 days of the announcement by the company of
its full or intenm results Options may be granted outside the 42-day period if the Remuneratron Committee considers there to be
exceptional circumstances Options must be granted subject to performance conditions being satisfied The performance conditions
must be objective and, save where the Rermuneration Committee determines there to be exceptional crcumstances, the performance
condrions must relate to the overall finanaal performance of the company or the market value of ordinary shares over a period of
at least three years The performance condiions can be waived or amended by the Remuneration Committee if 1t determines that a
change of circumstances means that the performance conditions cannot reasonably be met No consideration 1s payable on the grant
of an option and no option may be granted after 31 July 2017

The Remuneration Committee determines the exercise price before the options are granted and it cannot be less than the market value
of the shares on the date of grant

The options can only be exercised on or after the third annwersary of the date of grant provided the performance conditions have been
satisfied or waived by the Remuneration Committee The options lapse if not exercised by the tenth anniversary of the grant
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31. Share-based payments (continued)

These optiens lapse when the option holder ceases to be an eligible employee In the case of death, a pariigipant’s personal representatives
may exercise hisher options within 12 months after the date of death Where an option holder ceases to be an employee by reason
of injury, disability, redundancy, the company that employs the option holder ceasing to be a subsidary of the company, retirement,
pregnancy or in any other arcumstances determined by the Remuneration Commuttee, the options may be exerased within six months
of the termination of employment or such longer peniod as may be determined by the Remuneratton Committee

Other share-based payments

At the time of the acquisition of Freda Rebecca Gold Mine 1n 2005, the group agreed to sell a 15% interest in the company with a value
of U5$375,000 to a local investor This gption has vested immediately on inception and can be exercised at any tme Documentation
and completion of the sale have yet to be concluded

Share incentives

The share incentive scheme was approved by shareholders at the company’s annual general meeting on 31 July 2007 (the Share

Incentive Scheme) The Share Incentive Scheme 1s designed to complemnent the Share Option Scheme to facilitate awards to selected

executives and managers The Share Incentive Scheme permits the award of any one or a combination of the following incentives

* the sale of ordinary shares on deferred payment terms,

« share awards as part of a bonus scheme by way of nil cost options In consideration of cash bonuses forgone on terms that would
be determined by the Remuneration Committee of the company, and

+ the issue of share apprectation nghts either by the company or EBT (as defined below}

The company has also adopted an Employees’ Benefit Trust (EBT) which will operate in conjunction with the Share Option Scheme and
Share Incentive Scheme The EBT has not yet been utilised for this purpose and there have been no awards under the Share Incentive

Scheme since 1t was approved by shareholders

The share options have been valued using a Black Scholes model

70 MWANA  AFRICA.



2011 2010

Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options

Unapproved Options - 1997 Scheme

Outstanding at beginning of the year 54p 49,565,000 48p 19,770,000
Granted dunng the year - - - -
Exercsed dunng the year - - - -

Lapsed/cancelled during the year 84p (275,000) 48p (205,000)
Outstanding at end of the year 53p 19,290,000 54p 19,565,000
Exercisable at end of the year 53p 19,290,000 54p 19,565,000

Unapproved Options - 2007 Scheme

Outstanding at beginning of the year 26p 17,988,408 43p 14,597,648
Granted during the year - - 13p 9,760,715
Exercised during the year - - - -
Lapsed/cancelled during the year 27p (1,587,693) 47p (6,369,955}
Outstanding at end of the year 25p 16,400,715 26p 17,988,408
Exercisable at end of the year 40p 7,390,000 - -

Approved Options — 2007 Scheme

Outstanding at begmnning of the year 26p 550,438 40p 331,198
Granted during the year - - 14p 274,285
Exercised during the year - - - -
Lapsed/cancelled during the year 33p (92,307) 55p (55,045)
Outstanding at end of the year 24p 458,131 26p 550,438
Exercisable at end of the year 40p 183,846 - -

The total expenses recognised for the year arising from share-based payrments related o share options s £139,310 (2010 £261,927)
No options were exercised during current or previous year

The options outstanding at the year-end have a range of exercise prices of 10p to 79p (2010 10p to 125p) and a weighted average
contractual life of 5 0 years {2010 & { years}

For share option grants made in the current and prior year

2011 2010
Weighted average fair value at measurement date - 4p
Weighted average share price - 13p
Weighted average exercise price - 13p
Expected volatility - 359%
Expected option life - 4 5years
Expected dividends - _
Risk-free interest rate - 4 0%

The expected volatility 1s pnmanily based on the historc volatility
Stince the year-end, 750,000 share options have been awarded, 50,000 share options have lapsed and no share options have been
exercised
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32. Financial instruments

The directors deterrmine, as required, the degree 1o which it 15 appropriate to use financial instruments, commodity contracts, other
financial instruments or techmgues to mitigate rnsks The prinaipal nsks for which such instruments may be appropriate are interest
rate nsk, ligurdity risk, foreign currency nsk and commodity price nsk The most significant of these 1 foreign currency nisk which
comprises transactional exposure on operating activmties Some translation exposure also exists in respect of the investments in overseas
operations, since these have functional currencies other than the group’s reporting currency The group is also exposed to commodity
price risk since its sales are dependent on the price of gold, nickel and dizamonds

The group has not currently engaged any instruments in order to mitigate or hedge any such nisks, although the directors keep this
regularly under review

Trade recevables of £1,799,860 (2010 £884,583) were due to Freda Rebecca by the Zimbabwean Chamber of Mines, none of
which was outstanding past vts due date Trade recewables of £848,863 (2010 £2,866,294) were recewable from a well-established
cormmodities trader None of the trade recevables was outstanding past its due date

Based on historical default rates, the group believes that no impairment allowance 1s necessary in respect of trade receivables as
explained in note 4

Exposure to currency risk
The group’s exposure to currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts

201 2010
usD ZAR GBP Other Total usp ZAR GBP  Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Recevables 8,766 466 350 - 9,582 9,522 924 1,743 8 12,197
Net cash and cash equivalents 3,866 369 352 5 4,592 7,305 244 7,330 277 15,156
Payables (26,287)  (761) (1,290) - (28338) (20217) (764) (1,171} (5) (22,157)
Gross balance sheet exposure {13,655) 74 {588) 5 (14,164) (3,390} 404 7,902 280 5,196

The following significant exchange rates appled against the Bntish pound dunng the year

Average rate Balance sheet rate

2011 2070 2011 2010
AUD 16510 1 8859 1 5551 16397
EUR 11769 11296 11372 1 1204
Usp 15561 15963 16033 15072
ZAR 11 2093 12 5117 10 9642 111420

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% weakening of the British pound against the following currencies at 31 March and the average rate for the year ended
31 March would have increased/{decreased) equity and results before minority interest by the amounts shown below This analysis
assurnes that all other vanables, in particular mterest 1ates, remam constant The analysis 15 performed on the same basis for 2010

Equity Results
2011 2010 2011 2010
£'000 £:000 £'000 £'000
usD 2,587 3,083 587 698
AUD - 20 - 33
ZAR (3,.219) {579) (385) (154}

A 10% strengtherung of the British pound against the above currencies would have had a similar but opposite effect to the amounts
shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant
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Commodity price risk

For the 2011 financial year, the group’s earmings were manly exposed to changes in the prices of gold and nickel A 10% increase and
decrease 1n these prices would have ncreased/Adecreased) equety and results by the amounts shown below This analysis assumes that

all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant The analysis s performed on the same basis for 2010

Equity Results
2011 2010 2011 2010
£000 £000 £000 £000
10% increase in nickel price 257 624 265 1,180
10% decrease in nickel price (257) {624) (265) {1,180)
10% increase in gold price 2,260 598 2,328 598
10% decrease in gold price (2.260}) {598) (2,328) (598)

Liquidity risk
The group analysis of the liquidity nisk 1s based on an 18-month term cash flow projection This 1s disclosed n detail in note 4, along
with the risks and uncertainties included within the forecasts

Financial nisk management

Fair values

Fair value 1s defined as the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between
informed and willing parties Wherever possible, fair value 1s calculated by reference to quoted prices in active markets for identical
instruments Where no such quoted prices are avallable, other cbservable inputs are used and f there are no observable inputs then
fair values are calculated by discounting projected future cash flows at prevaling rates transtated at year end exchange rates

Fawr values for finanaai assets and habilities recogmsed at cost in the group balance sheet

Book value Fair value

2011 2010 2011 2010

£000 E£'000 £000 £°000
Financial assets
Investments 2,516 2,076 2,516 2,076
Non-current receivables 948 1,005 948 1,005
Trade and other recevables 9,582 12,197 9,582 12,197
Cash and cash equivalents 4,592 15,156 4,592 15,156
Financial hatwhties
Trade and other payables 9,188 8,879 9,188 8,879
Other payabiles 19,568 12,036 19,568 12,036

33. Events after the reporting period

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 9 June 2011, the shareholders approved a camital reorgamisation under which the existing
ordinary shares with a nominal value of 10p each were subdivided into one new ordinary share of 1p and one deferred share of 9p
Immediately following the capital reorganisation, every shareholder held one new ordinary share and one deferred share in place of
any existing share held

On 9 June 2011 the company successfully placed 185,425,548 shares at a price of 5p for a total consideration of £8 8 mullion net of costs
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34. Related party disclosures
Group

Transactions between group subsidianes, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this note

Company
The company provided funding to subsidiary companies which are disclosed as current recevables in note 23

Durning the period March to September 2010, Mr Qliver Baning incurred costs of a personal nature on his company credit card, a
balance which is settled by the company on a monthly basis £82,288 including interest charged at 3% per annum was repard on 30th
of September 2010

35. Commitments and contingent liabilities

Commitments
Capital commitments at the end of the financial year relating principally to property, plant and equipment for BNC and Freda Rebecca,
for which no provision has been made, are as follows

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Contracted 1,801 1,390 - -

The group and company have the following total mmimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

Group Company

2011 2010 201 2010

£000 £000 £'000 £'000
Operating leases whtch expire
Within one year 198 236 130 130
Two to five years 153 351 153 283
Qver five years - - - -
Contracted 351 587 283 a3

Contingent liabilities

The group and company monttor contingent liabilities, including, inter afia, those reating to taxation in the vanous jurisdictions in
which the group and company operate, envronmental, closure and other contingent liabilittes, on an ongoing basis Prowision for such
habilities 1s raised in the finanaal statements when the necessary recognition critena have been satisfied

The following contingencies exist at the year-end

Group

» There are a number of legal claims which have been brought against BNC and Freda Rebecca

Company

¢ The company has commutted to a death in service benefit of five times executive annual salary for Mr KK Mpinga Twice the annual
salary (s covered by an insurance policy leaving the company with a remaining exposure of three years

* The company has issued a guarantee to the Industnal Development Corporation of South Africa for the loan given to
Freda Rebecca
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Forward-looking statements

This report has been 1ssued by, and 1s the sole responsibility of Mwana Africa PLC This report includes forward-looking statements’
Words such as ‘anticipates’, ‘expects’, intends’, ‘plans’, ‘forecasts’, ‘projects’, ‘budgets’, believes, ‘seeks, ‘estimates, ‘could’,
‘rmight’, ‘should , and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements All statements other than statements of historical facts
included mn this report, including, without limitation, those regarding Mwana Africa’s business strategy and plans and objectives of
management for future operations and acqursition opportunities, are forward-looking staterments Such forward-looking statements
nvolve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors which could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of Mwana Africa or the markets and economies in which Mwana Africa operates to be materally different from future
results, performance or acheevements expressed or impled by such forward-looking statements, including, without imitaton, political,
regulatory and economic factors

Factors that would cause actual results or events to differ from current expectations include, among other things, changes in commodity
prices, changes in equity markets, failure 1o establish estmated mineral resources, poltical risks, changes to regulations affecting
Mwana Africa’s activities, delays i obtaining or failures to obtain required requlatory approvals, falure of equipment, uncertainties
relating to the avalability and costs of finanang needed in the future, the uncertainties involved n interpreting dnlling results and
other geclogical data, delays in obtaining geological results, and other nisks involved 1n the mineral exploration industry Mwana Alnca
believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, however, forward-looking statements are
not guarantees of future performance and accordingly undue reliance should not be put on such statements due to the inherent
uncertainty therein Mwana Africa does not assume any responsibility to update any of such forward-locking statements, save as
required by relevant law or regulatory authority This report contains information regarding the results of various exploration activities
Where a mineral resource has not been defined, 1t should be noted that the potential quantity and grade 1s conceptual in nature, there
has been insufficient exploration to define a mineral resource, and that 1t 15 uncertain if further exploration will result in the target
being delineated as a mineral resource

Charl du Plessis, Executive Vice President Exploration of Mwana Africa, who holds a PhD and 1s a Member of the AuslMM, and,
James Arthur, Executive Vice President Operations of Mwana Afnca, Fellow of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy,
are Qualified Persons’ as defined in the AIM Rules The exploration and resource information contained in this report pertaining to
Zani-Kodo and SEMHKAT has been reviewed and venfied by Dr Du Plessis, and, the resource information contained in this report
pertairung to Troian mine, Shangant mine, Hunters Road and Freda Rebecca Gald Mine has been reviewed and venfied by Mr Arthur
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